Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: August 6, 2024 ACCEPTED: September 21, 2024 PUBLISHED: October 9, 2024

Soft limits of gluon and graviton correlators in Anti-de Sitter space

Chandramouli Chowdhury⁽¹⁾,^a Arthur Lipstein⁽¹⁾,^b Jiajie Mei⁽¹⁾ and Yuyu Mo⁽¹⁾

- ^bDepartment of Mathematical Sciences, Durham University, Stockton Road, DH1 3LE, Durham, U.K.
- ^cHiggs Centre for Theoretical Physics, School of Physics and Astronomy, The University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh EH9 3FD, Scotland, U.K.

E-mail: c.chowdhury@soton.ac.uk, lipstein@durham.ac.uk, jiajie.mei@durham.ac.uk, y.y.mo@sms.ed.ac.uk

ABSTRACT: We derive formulae for the soft limit of tree-level gluon and graviton correlators in Anti-de Sitter space, which arise from Feynman diagrams encoding the Weinberg soft theorems in flat space. Other types of diagrams can also contribute to the soft limit at leading order in the soft momentum, but have a different pole structure. We derive these results at four points using explicit formulae recently obtained from the cosmological bootstrap and double copy, and extend them to any multiplicity using bootstrap techniques in Mellin-momentum space.

KEYWORDS: AdS-CFT Correspondence, Scattering Amplitudes

ARXIV EPRINT: 2407.16052





^aMathematical Sciences and STAG Research Centre, University of Southampton, Highfield, Southampton SO17 1BJ, U.K.

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Review	3
3	Four points	5
	3.1 Yang-Mills	5
	3.2 Gravity	8
4	General multiplicity	10
	4.1 Mellin-momentum amplitudes	10
	4.2 Bootstrap	11
	4.3 Gluon soft limit	13
	4.4 Graviton soft limit	15
5	Conclusion	17
A	Four-point GR soft limit	18
В	Soft limits in Mellin space	20
\mathbf{C}	From Mellin to momentum space	20
	C.1 Yang-Mills	20
	C.2 Gravity	22
	C.3 Further comments on Mellin momentum amplitudes	23
D	Soft limits in momentum space	24
\mathbf{E}	Soft limit of five-point YM	27

1 Introduction

A major driving force in the study of scattering amplitudes was the discovery of soft theorems which relate higher point amplitudes to lower point amplitudes when the momentum of one external leg is taken to zero. Soft gluon and graviton theorems were first derived at leading order in the soft momentum by Weinberg [1] and then extended to higher orders in [2–7]. They are of great interest because they imply useful constraints on scattering amplitudes and encode hidden symmetries. For example in certain scalar theories they encode hidden shift symmetries via enhanced soft limits [8–12], while in Yang-Mills (YM) and Einstein gravity they encode asymptotic symmetries [13–15] known as extended Bondi-Metzner-Sachs (BMS) symmetry [16, 17].

Soft limits also play an important role in cosmology where they give rise to consistency conditions on inflationary correlators [18-26] and allow one to deduce certain inflationary

three-point functions from soft limits of four-point de Sitter (dS) correlators [27–30]. More recently, they were also shown to encode hidden symmetries of certain scalar theories via enhanced soft limits analogous to those in flat space [31, 32]. The soft limit of three-point graviton correlators in de Sitter was found long ago by Maldacena [18] and takes the form of an energy derivative acting on a two-point correlators. Similar structure was also found for inflationary correlators with a soft graviton and any number of scalars using symmetry-based arguments [21, 24]. Our goal in this paper will be to derive a formula for the soft limits of gluon and graviton correlators with any multiplicity in Anti-de Sitter space (AdS). Curvature corrections to the Weinberg soft theorems in AdS were found by first expanding around the flat space limit [33–36], but in this paper we will not perform such an expansion. In fact, we will show that the soft and flat space limits do not commute.

First we compute the soft limits of the tree-level four-point gluon and graviton correlators in AdS₄. While this is fairly straightforward to do for gluons using Feynman diagrams, for gravitons we make use of a compact formula for the four-point graviton correlator recently derived using a combination of bootstrap [37] and double copy [38] techniques. We then obtain soft limit formulae for arbitrary multiplicity by computing the soft limit of class I diagrams which give rise to the Weinberg soft theorems in flat space. Unlike in flat space, other types of diagrams can also contribute to the soft limit at leading order in the soft momentum, but they have a different pole structure than class I diagrams so they can be distinguished, as we will explain. The soft limit of class I diagrams is very difficult to prove in gravity using standard Feynman diagram methods, so we prove it using bootstrap techniques in Mellin-momentum space [39–42]. This approach makes use of a differential representation where correlators are represented in terms of certain differential operators acting on bulk scalar contact diagrams [43–46].

Ultimately, we find that the soft limit of gluon and graviton correlators gives a term analogous to the Weinberg soft factor for scattering amplitudes where the soft pole is replaced with an energy derivative plus a term involving a polarisation derivative which is subleading in the flat space limit. These two terms can be nicely combined into a single momentum derivative acting on the bulk-to-boundary propagator of a hard leg. As mentioned above, similar structures appear in the consistency relations for inflationary correlators, which are derived from Ward identities associated with certain nonlinearly realised large diffeomeorphisms [21, 24]. On the other hand, we derive soft limits diagramatically rather than from underlying symmetry principles. It would be very interesting to see how the soft limits in this paper are related to those of inflationary correlators or to derive them from the analogoue of BMS symmetry in AdS known as Λ -BMS symmetry, which was recently discovered in [47].

The structure of this paper is as follows. In section 2 we review the Weinberg soft theorems in flat space and the soft limit of three-point gluon and graviton correlators in AdS_4 . In section 3 we compute the soft limits of four-point gluon and graviton correlators in AdS_4 and in section 4 we obtain soft limit formulae for any multiplicity by computing the soft limit of general class I diagrams using bootstrap techniques in Mellin-momentum space. In section 5, we present our conclusions. There are also several of appendices which describe various technical details. For example, we analyze soft limits of general YM diagrams using Feynman rules in AdS momentum space and show that non-class I diagrams exhibit different pole structure than class I diagrams. We also verify our soft limit formula for five-point correlators in YM. We also include as Supplementary material two Mathematica notebooks, Class1.nb and 5ptYM.nb, which provide details of the bootstrap procedure for class I diagrams and our five-point checks, respectively.

2 Review

As shown long ago by Weinberg [1], soft limits of gluon and graviton ampitudes have the following universal form:

$$\lim_{k_{n+1}^{\mu} \to 0} \mathcal{A}_{n+1}^{YM} = \left(\sum_{a=1}^{n} \frac{\varepsilon_{n+1} \cdot k_a}{k_{n+1} \cdot k_a} + \dots\right) \mathcal{A}_n^{YM}$$
(2.1)

$$\lim_{k_{n+1}^{\mu} \to 0} \mathcal{A}_{n+1}^{GR} = \left(\sum_{a=1}^{n} \frac{\left(\varepsilon_{n+1} \cdot k_a\right)^2}{k_{n+1} \cdot k_a} + \dots \right) \mathcal{A}_n^{GR}$$
(2.2)

where ... denote subleading terms in the soft expansion. In recent years, deep connections to asymptoic symmetries have been identified [13, 14]. In this paper our goal will be to find analogous formulae for boundary correlators in AdS. Before doing so, we will first review some facts about AdS correlators and soft limits of 3-point functions.

We will work in the Poincare patch of Euclidean AdS_{d+1} with unit radius:

$$ds^2 = \frac{dz^2 + dx^i dx^i}{z^2},$$
 (2.3)

where $0 < z < \infty$ is the radial coordinate and x^i with $i \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$ are the coordinates of the boundary located at z = 0. In AdS, the basic obervables are computed by summing over Feynman diagrams ending on the boundary, which can be formally treated like boundary CFT correlators. Wick-rotating to de Sitter space then gives cosmological wavefunction coefficients [18, 48]. In-in correlators can then be obtained by squaring the wavefunction and performing a path integral over boundary values of the bulk fields [18, 49], although we will not consider such objects in this paper. Since the boundary is translation invariant, we Fourier transform correlators along the boundary to momentum space to get [50]

$$\left\langle \mathcal{O}_{\Delta}\left(\vec{k}_{1}\right)\dots\mathcal{O}_{\Delta}\left(\vec{k}_{n}\right)\right\rangle = \delta^{d}\left(\vec{k}_{T}\right)\left\langle \left\langle \mathcal{O}_{\Delta}\left(\vec{k}_{1}\right)\dots\mathcal{O}_{\Delta}\left(\vec{k}_{n}\right)\right\rangle \right\rangle,$$
 (2.4)

where \vec{k}_T is the total boundary momentum, which must vanish by momentum conservation:

$$\vec{k}_T = \sum_{a=1}^n \vec{k}_a = 0, \tag{2.5}$$

where the subscript *a* labels external legs and we denote the correlator stripped of the delta function with double brackets. For simplicity, we consider scalar operators in the boundary with scaling dimension Δ which are dual to bulk scalar fields ϕ with mass $m^2 = \Delta (\Delta - d)$. The bulk-to-boundary propagators for the bulk scalar fields are obtained by solving the free equations of motion [51, 52]

$$\mathcal{D}_k^{\Delta}\phi_{\Delta}(k,z) = 0, \quad \mathcal{D}_k^{\Delta} \equiv z^2 k^2 - z^2 \partial_z^2 - (1-d)z \partial_z + \Delta(\Delta - d), \tag{2.6}$$

where $k = |\vec{k}|$ is the norm of the boundary momentum flowing through the propagator, which we refer to as the energy of the particle.¹ In general, the total energy of an *n*-point correlator

$$k_{12...n} = \sum_{a=1}^{n} k_a, \ k_a = \left| \vec{k}_a \right|$$
 (2.7)

is not conserved. In the flat space limit, the energy is taken to zero and the correlator develops a pole whose residue is the flat space amplitude in (d + 1) dimensions [53].

In more detail, the solution to (2.6) is given by

$$\phi_{\Delta}(k,z) = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} z^{d/2} k^{\Delta - \frac{d}{2}} K_{\Delta - \frac{d}{2}}(zk)$$
(2.8)

where K is a Bessel function. A useful fact is that the bulk-to-boundary propagators for gluons and gravitons can be obtained by dressing scalar propagators with polarisations [51, 52]

$$A_{i}(k,z) = \varepsilon_{i}\phi_{\Delta=d-1}(k,z), \quad h_{ij} = \varepsilon_{ij}\phi_{\Delta=d}(k,z), \quad (2.9)$$

where we have rescaled the propagators of by factors of z and absorbed these factors into the interaction vertices (for more details about this and the gauge choice see [54]). Polarisations point along the boundary and satisfy

$$\vec{\varepsilon}_a \cdot \vec{k}_a = \vec{\varepsilon}_a \cdot \vec{\varepsilon}_a = 0. \tag{2.10}$$

Moreover, graviton polarisations can be written as a tensor product of gluon polarisations:

$$\varepsilon_a^{ij} = \varepsilon_a^i \varepsilon_a^j. \tag{2.11}$$

We will not go into further details about the Feynman rules for gluons and gravitons in AdS since later on we will make use of bootstrap techniques that will not require a detailed knowledge of the Feynman rules.

Correlators of gluons and gravitons can be represented as boundary correlators of conserved currents J and stress tensors T, respectively. The two and three-point gluon correlators in AdS₄ are given by [55, 56]

$$\langle\langle JJ\rangle\rangle = -\frac{1}{2}k_2\varepsilon_1\cdot\varepsilon_2, \ \langle\langle JJJ\rangle\rangle = \frac{1}{k_{123}}\left(\varepsilon_1\cdot\varepsilon_2\varepsilon_3\cdot k_1 + \text{cyclic}\right),$$
 (2.12)

where the double brackets once again indicate that we drop the momentum-conserving delta function.² If we take the soft limit of the three-point we obtain

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_3 \to 0} \langle \langle JJJ \rangle \rangle = -\frac{\varepsilon_3 \cdot k_2 \varepsilon_1 \cdot \varepsilon_2}{2k_2} = -\frac{\varepsilon_3 \cdot k_2}{2k_2} \partial_{k_2} \langle \langle JJ \rangle \rangle, \tag{2.13}$$

where the energy derivative acts trivially on polarisations so only acts on the k_2 in (2.12). Similarly, the two and three-point graviton correlators in AdS₄ are given by [55, 56]:

$$\langle\langle TT\rangle\rangle = \frac{1}{2}k_2^3 \left(\varepsilon_1 \cdot \varepsilon_2\right)^2, \qquad (2.14)$$

$$\langle \langle TTT \rangle \rangle = \left(\frac{k_1 k_2 k_3}{k_{123}^2} + \frac{k_1 k_2 + k_2 k_3 + k_3 k_1}{k_{123}} - k_{123} \right) \left(\varepsilon_1 \cdot \varepsilon_2 \varepsilon_3 \cdot k_1 + \text{cyclic} \right)^2, \quad (2.15)$$

¹More precisely, this can be thought of as the radial component of the momentum in AdS, but after Wick rotation to dS the radial direction becomes time-like so this can be interpreted as an energy.

²We have chosen the normalisation of two point functions for consistency with soft limits.

where we neglect boundary contact terms in the three-point expression which can be removed by redefining the bulk metric. For simplicity, we also neglect a well-known IR divergent term [55] which cancels out of the in-in correlator and will not effect our results later on. Taking the soft limit of the three-point correlator then gives:

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_3 \to 0} \langle \langle TTT \rangle \rangle = -\frac{3}{2} k_2 \left(\varepsilon_1 \cdot \varepsilon_2 \varepsilon_3 \cdot k_2 \right)^2 = -\frac{\left(\varepsilon_3 \cdot k_2\right)^2}{2k_2} \partial_{k_2} \langle \langle TT \rangle \rangle.$$
(2.16)

A similar formula for in-in correlators was first found by Maldacena in the context of cosmology [18]. Note that the divergent term we neglected in (2.15) does not contribute to the soft limit because the terms which survive in the soft limit are analytic in at least two momenta and therefore correspond to boundary contact terms at three points [55].

Our goal in this paper will be to generalise these formulae to arbitrary multiplicity. For the impatient reader, our main results can be found in (4.24) and (4.35). As we will see later, the energy derivatives in (2.13) and (2.16) can be thought of as the AdS analogue of Weinberg soft factors in (2.2), and appear at arbitrary multiplicity. Above three-points, we also obtain polarisation derivatives which are subleading in the flat space limit. Similar structures also appear in the soft limits of inflationary correlators [21, 24] so it would be very interesting to understand how they are related to the soft limits of boundary correlators in AdS. Note that the relation is not direct because cosmological correlators are obtained by squaring the cosmological wavefunction, which maps onto boundary correlators in AdS after analytic continuation [18, 49].

3 Four points

In this section we compute the soft limit of four-point gluon and graviton correlators in AdS_4 using explicit four-point correlators recently derived in [38] using double copy techniques. We will observe a Weinberg-like soft factor involving an energy derivative as well as another term with a polarisation derivative which is subleading in the flat space limit. As we will show in the next section, this structure extends to any number of points.

3.1 Yang-Mills

Let us consider the color-ordered tree-level four-point correlator. This is given by a sum of s and t-channel diagrams along with a contact diagram as depicted in the figure below:



It is possible to express this sum over Feynman diagrams (including the contact diagram) as a sum of s and t-channel contributions. Using Feynman rules in momentum space, it is

not difficult to show that the s-channel contribution is [38]

$$\langle\langle JJJJ\rangle\rangle^{(s)} = \frac{W_s}{k_{1234}E_LE_R} + \frac{\varepsilon_1 \cdot \varepsilon_2\varepsilon_3 \cdot \varepsilon_4\Pi_{1,1}}{k_{1234}E_LE_R} - \frac{\varepsilon_1 \cdot \varepsilon_2\varepsilon_3 \cdot \varepsilon_4\Pi_{1,0}}{k_{1234}} + \frac{V_c^s}{4k_{1234}}, \quad (3.2)$$

where $E_L = k_{12} + k_S$, $E_R = k_{34} + k_S$, $k_S = |\vec{k}_{12}|$,

$$W_s = \varepsilon_1 \cdot \varepsilon_2 \left(k_1 \cdot \varepsilon_3 k_2 \cdot \varepsilon_4 - k_2 \cdot \varepsilon_3 k_1 \cdot \varepsilon_4 \right) \tag{3.3}$$

$$+\varepsilon_3\cdot\varepsilon_4\left(k_3\cdot\varepsilon_1k_4\cdot\varepsilon_2-k_4\cdot\varepsilon_1k_3\cdot\varepsilon_2\right) \tag{3.4}$$

$$+ (k_2 \cdot \varepsilon_1 \varepsilon_2 - k_1 \cdot \varepsilon_2 \varepsilon_1) \cdot (k_4 \cdot \varepsilon_3 \varepsilon_4 - k_3 \cdot \varepsilon_4 \varepsilon_3)$$

$$(3.5)$$

$$\Pi_{1,1} = \frac{1}{4} \left(k_1 - k_2 \right) \cdot \left(k_3 - k_4 \right) + \frac{\left(k_1^2 - k_2^2 \right) \left(k_3^2 - k_4^2 \right)}{4k_S^2}$$
(3.6)

$$\Pi_{1,0} = \frac{(k_1 - k_2)(k_3 - k_4)}{4k_S^2} \tag{3.7}$$

$$V_c^s = (\varepsilon_1 \cdot \varepsilon_3 \varepsilon_2 \cdot \varepsilon_4 - \varepsilon_1 \cdot \varepsilon_4 \varepsilon_2 \cdot \varepsilon_3).$$
(3.8)

If we take the soft limit of \vec{k}_4 , we obtain

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_4 \to 0} \langle \langle JJJJ \rangle \rangle^{(s)} = -\frac{\varepsilon_4 \cdot k_3}{2k_3 k_{123}} \langle \langle JJJ \rangle \rangle - \frac{\varepsilon_1 \cdot \varepsilon_2 \varepsilon_3 \cdot \varepsilon_4 \left(k_1 - k_2\right)}{4k_3 k_{123}} + \frac{V_c^{(s)}}{4k_{123}}, \tag{3.9}$$

where we noted that

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_4 \to 0} \Pi_{1,1} = 0, \quad \lim_{\vec{k}_4 \to 0} \Pi_{1,0} = \frac{k_1 - k_2}{4k_3}.$$
(3.10)

To proceed, we drop the contribution from the contact digram $V_c^{(s)}$ in (3.9) and re-write the remaining expression as

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_4 \to 0} \langle \langle JJJJ \rangle \rangle^{(s)} = \frac{\varepsilon_4 \cdot k_3}{2k_3} \partial_{k_3} \langle \langle JJJ \rangle \rangle + \frac{\varepsilon_3 \cdot \varepsilon_4}{2k_3^2} k_3^i V_{12}^i \int dz e^{-k_{12}z} \left(1 - e^{-k_3z}\right) + \dots \quad (3.11)$$

where the energy derivative only acts on the energy pole of the three-point correlator in (2.12),

$$V_{ab}^{i} = \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{a} \cdot \varepsilon_{b} \left(k_{a} - k_{b}\right)^{i} + \varepsilon_{a} \cdot k_{b} \varepsilon_{b}^{i} - \varepsilon_{b} \cdot k_{a} \varepsilon_{a}^{i}$$
(3.12)

is the three-point gluon vertex, and ... denote the terms we have dropped. As we will see in the next section, the terms we have kept arise from the soft limit of Feynman diagrams which encode the Weinberg soft limit in flat space (known as class I diagrams) and the terms we have dropped arise from other classes of diagrams. To obtain (3.11) we noted that $k_3^i V_{12}^i = -\frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_1 \cdot \varepsilon_2 (k_1^2 - k_2^2)$ and

$$\int dz e^{-k_{12}z} \left(1 - e^{k_{3}z}\right) = \frac{k_3}{k_{123}k_{12}}.$$
(3.13)

We may then write (3.11) as follows:

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_4 \to 0} \langle \langle JJJJ \rangle \rangle^{(s)} = \frac{\varepsilon_4 \cdot k_3}{2k_3} \partial_{k_3} \langle \langle JJJ \rangle \rangle + \frac{\varepsilon_3 \cdot \varepsilon_4}{2k_3^2} k_3 \cdot \partial_{\varepsilon_3} \left(\langle \langle JJJ \rangle \rangle |_{k_3=0} - \langle \langle JJJ \rangle \rangle \right) + \dots \quad (3.14)$$

where $\langle \langle JJJ \rangle \rangle|_{k_3=0}$ means that the energy k_3 is set to zero but not k_3 , so this restriction just means that we take the energy pole $k_{123}^{-1} \rightarrow k_{12}^{-1}$. Note that the first term in parenthesis in (3.14) corresponds to a boundary contact term in position space and can be dropped. To see this, let's write out this term explicitly:

$$\frac{\varepsilon_3 \cdot \varepsilon_4}{2k_3^2} k_3 \cdot \varepsilon_3 \left\langle \left\langle JJJ \right\rangle \right\rangle |_{k_3=0} = \frac{\varepsilon_3 \cdot \varepsilon_4}{2k_3^2} k_3^i V_{12}^i \int dz e^{-k_{12}z} = \frac{\varepsilon_1 \cdot \varepsilon_2 \varepsilon_3 \cdot \varepsilon_4}{4k_3^2} \left(k_1 - k_2\right) \tag{3.15}$$

The first term on the right-hand-side is analytic in legs 2 and 3 while the second term is analytic in legs 1 and 3. As shown in [55], terms which are analytic in at least two momenta give delta functions after Fourier transforming to position space so vanish for generic positions of the dual operators.

In summary, we find the following soft limit for the s-channel contribution to a 4-point gluon correlator:

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_4 \to 0} \langle \langle JJJJ \rangle \rangle^{(s)} = \frac{\varepsilon_4 \cdot k_3}{2k_3} \partial_{k_3} \langle \langle JJJ \rangle \rangle - \frac{\varepsilon_4 \cdot \varepsilon_3}{2k_3^2} k_3 \cdot \partial_{\varepsilon_3} \langle \langle JJJ \rangle \rangle + \dots$$
(3.16)

$$=\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_4^i\partial_{k_{3i}}\langle\langle JJJ\rangle\rangle + \dots, \qquad (3.17)$$

where the momentum derivative in the second line acts on the bulk-to-boundary propagator of leg 3. Recalling that the bulk-to-boundary propagator can be expressed in terms of scalar propagator (which only depends on energy) dressed with a polarisation, we see that the momentum derivative in (3.17) can act on the energy or polarisation of the propagator, which gives (3.16) after using the following identities:

$$\partial_{k^i} = \frac{k_i}{k} \partial_k, \quad \frac{\partial \varepsilon_i}{\partial k^j} = -\frac{\varepsilon_j k_i}{k^2}.$$
 (3.18)

The first one follows from the chain rule while the second one follows from taking a derivative of (2.10). The soft limit of the full color-ordered gluon correlator is then obtained by summing over the s and t channels.

Let us comment on the physical interpretation of (3.17). Consider the first term on the right hand side of (3.2), which comes from gluon exchange. Notice that it has a simple pole in the total energy k_{1234} . Taking the energy to zero gives

$$\lim_{k_{1234}\to 0} \frac{W_s}{k_{1234}E_L E_R} = \frac{1}{k_{1234}} \frac{W_s}{S},\tag{3.19}$$

where $S = k_{34\mu}k_{34}^{\mu}$ is the 4d Lorentz-invariant Mandelstam variable. We recognise the residue of the energy pole to be the s-channel gluon exchange diagram in flat space. If we then take the soft limit $\vec{k}_4 \rightarrow 0$ we get

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_4 \to 0} \lim_{k_{1234} \to 0} \frac{W_s}{k_{1234} E_L E_R} = \frac{1}{k_{123}} \frac{\varepsilon_4 \cdot k_3}{k_4 \cdot k_3} \left(\varepsilon_1 \cdot \varepsilon_2 \varepsilon_3 \cdot k_1 + \text{cyclic} \right), \tag{3.20}$$

which we recognize as a term contributing to the Weinberg soft gluon theorem in (2.2) times a three-point energy pole. If we instead take the soft limit followed by the flat space limit, we obtain

$$\lim_{k_{1234}\to 0} \lim_{\vec{k}_4\to 0} \frac{W_s}{k_{1234}E_L E_R} = \frac{\varepsilon_4 \cdot k_3}{2k_3 k_{123}^2} \left(\varepsilon_1 \cdot \varepsilon_2 \varepsilon_3 \cdot k_1 + \text{cyclic}\right).$$
(3.21)

Hence, the soft and flat space limits do not commute and we get a double pole in k_{123} which arises from acting with ∂_{k_3} on the energy pole of the three-point function in (3.17). The double pole can in turn be written as a single pole in k_{123} times a pole in the energy of the soft leg k_4 using energy conservation associated with the flat space limit. Hence, we see that the first term on the right-hand-side of (3.16) is indeed the analogue of the Weinberg soft factor in AdS. In addition to this, we also find a polarisation derivative in (3.16) which is subleading in the flat space limit. The two terms combine nicely into a single derivative with respect to boundary momentum acting on the bulk-to-boundary propagator of leg 3.

3.2 Gravity

Next let us consider the soft limit of the 4-point graviton correlator. A compact formulae was obtained from the double copy in [38]. It can be written as a sum over three channels and we give the explicit formula for the s-channel and compute its soft limit in appendix A. In the end we obtain

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_{4}\to0} \langle \langle TTTT \rangle \rangle^{(s)} = \frac{1}{2} \left(k_{3} \cdot \varepsilon_{4} \right)^{2} \left(\frac{2k_{1}k_{2}}{k_{123}^{3}} + \frac{k_{12}}{k_{123}^{2}} + \frac{1}{k_{123}} \right) \left(\varepsilon_{1} \cdot \varepsilon_{2}\varepsilon_{3} \cdot k_{1} + \text{cyclic} \right)^{2} \\ + \frac{1}{2} k_{3} \cdot \varepsilon_{4} \left(\varepsilon_{1} \cdot \varepsilon_{2}\varepsilon_{3} \cdot k_{1} + \text{cyclic} \right) \varepsilon_{1} \cdot \varepsilon_{2}\varepsilon_{3} \cdot \varepsilon_{4} \left(k_{1} - k_{2} \right) \left(\frac{k_{1}k_{2}}{k_{123}^{2}} + \frac{k_{12}}{k_{123}} \right) \\ - \frac{1}{2} k_{3} \cdot \varepsilon_{4} \left(\varepsilon_{1} \cdot \varepsilon_{2}\varepsilon_{3} \cdot k_{1} + \text{cyclic} \right) V_{c}^{(s)} \\ \times \left(\frac{k_{1}k_{2}k_{3}}{k_{123}^{2}} + \frac{k_{1}k_{2} + k_{2}k_{3} + k_{3}k_{1}}{k_{123}} - k_{123} \right).$$

$$(3.22)$$

We see that the soft limit can be written in terms of gluonic building blocks, reflecting the underlying double copy structure. As we did in the previous subsection, we drop the gluonic four-point vertex $V_c^{(s)}$ and re-write the remaining terms as follows:

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_4 \to 0} \langle \langle TTTT \rangle \rangle^{(s)} = -\frac{(\varepsilon_4 \cdot k_3)^2}{2k_3} \partial_{k_3} \langle \langle TTT \rangle \rangle - \frac{\varepsilon_4 \cdot k_3 \varepsilon_3 \cdot \varepsilon_4}{2k_3^2} \varepsilon_3^{(i)} k_3^{(j)} \tilde{V}_{12}^{ij} \frac{k_3^2}{k_{12}} \left(\frac{k_1 k_2}{k_{123}^2} + \frac{k_{12}}{k_{123}} \right) + \dots,$$
(3.23)

where ... denote the terms we have dropped, $\varepsilon_3^{(i}k_3^{j)} \equiv \varepsilon_3^i k_3^j + \varepsilon_3^j k_3^i$, $\tilde{V}_{ab}^{ij} = V_{ab}^i V_{ab}^j$, and we noted that

$$-\frac{1}{k_3}\frac{\partial}{\partial k_3}\left(\frac{k_1k_2k_3}{k_{123}^2} + \frac{k_1k_2 + k_2k_3 + k_3k_1}{k_{123}} - k_{123}\right) = \frac{2k_1k_2}{k_{123}^3} + \frac{k_{12}}{k_{123}^2} + \frac{1}{k_{123}},\tag{3.24}$$

$$\varepsilon_3^{(i}k_3^{j)}\tilde{V}_{12}^{ij} = -\frac{1}{2}\left(\varepsilon_1 \cdot \varepsilon_2\varepsilon_3 \cdot k_1 + \text{cyclic}\right)\varepsilon_1 \cdot \varepsilon_2\left(k_1^2 - k_2^2\right).$$
(3.25)

As we will see in the next section, (3.23) encodes the contribution of Feynman diagrams which encode the Weinberg soft theorem in flat space (known as class I diagrams) and the terms we have neglected arise from other types of diagrams. We can recast the gravitational soft limit in (3.23) in a form analogous to the gluonic one in (3.11):

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_4 \to 0} \langle \langle TTTT \rangle \rangle^{(s)} = -\frac{(\varepsilon_4 \cdot k_3)^2}{2k_3} \partial_{k_3} \langle \langle TTT \rangle \rangle -\frac{\varepsilon_4 \cdot k_3 \varepsilon_3 \cdot \varepsilon_4}{2k_3^2} \varepsilon_3^{(i)} k_3^{(j)} \partial_{\varepsilon_3^{(i)}} \left(\langle \langle TTT \rangle \rangle |_{k_3=0} - \langle \langle TTT \rangle \rangle \right) + \dots$$
(3.26)

In obtaining this formula we used the following identity:

$$\int \frac{dz}{z^2} \left(1 + k_1 z\right) \left(1 + k_2 z\right) e^{-k_{12} z} \left(1 - \left(1 + k_3 z\right) e^{-k_3 z}\right) = \frac{k_3^2}{k_{12}} \left(\frac{k_1 k_2}{k_{123}^2} + \frac{k_{12}}{k_{123}}\right), \quad (3.27)$$

and replaced \tilde{V}_{ab}^{ij} with the three-graviton vertex. While the three-graviton vertex is not equal to the square of the three-gluon vertices unless all three legs are external, the difference between them actually doesn't contribute to the amplitude in the soft limit, as we will prove in the next section.

The first term in parenthesis in (3.26) corresponds to a boundary contact term. To see this, let us write it out explicitly:

$$\frac{2\varepsilon_4 \cdot k_3\varepsilon_3 \cdot \varepsilon_4}{k_3^2} \varepsilon_3^{(i} k_3^{j)} \partial_{\varepsilon_3^{ij}} \left\langle \left\langle TTT \right\rangle \right\rangle |_{k_3=0} = \frac{2\varepsilon_4 \cdot k_3\varepsilon_3 \cdot \varepsilon_4}{k_3^2} \varepsilon_3^{(i} k_3^{j)} \tilde{V}_{12}^{ij} \int_{z_0}^{\infty} \frac{dz}{z^2} \left(1 + k_1 z\right) \left(1 + k_2 z\right) e^{-k_{12} z}, \tag{3.28}$$

where we have put a cutoff on the lower limit of the z integral to regulate the divergence. In more detail, this integral is given by

$$\int_{z_0}^{\infty} \frac{dz}{z^2} \left(1 + k_1 z\right) \left(1 + k_2 z\right) e^{-k_1 z z} = \frac{1}{z_0} + \frac{k_1 k_2}{k_{12}} - k_1 - k_2.$$
(3.29)

Note that this divergence cancels a divergence in the second term in parenthesis in (3.26), which we left out of (2.15) for simplicity. We then find that

$$\frac{\varepsilon_4 \cdot k_3 \varepsilon_3 \cdot \varepsilon_4}{2k_3^2} \varepsilon_3^{(i)} k_3^{(i)} \partial_{\varepsilon_3^{(i)}} \left\langle \langle TTT \rangle \right\rangle |_{k_3=0} = -\frac{\varepsilon_4 \cdot k_3 \varepsilon_1 \cdot \varepsilon_2 \varepsilon_3 \cdot \varepsilon_4}{2k_3^2} \left(\varepsilon_1 \cdot \varepsilon_2 \varepsilon_3 \cdot k_1 + \text{cyclic} \right) \\ \times \left(k_1^2 - k_2^2 \right) \left(\frac{1}{z_0} + \frac{k_1 k_2}{k_{12}} - k_1 - k_2 \right).$$
(3.30)

Noting that

$$\frac{\left(k_1^2 - k_2^2\right)k_1k_2}{k_{12}} = k_1^2k_2 - k_2^2k_1, \qquad (3.31)$$

we see that all the terms on the right hand side of (3.30) are analytic in two momenta and therefore correspond to boundary contact terms in position space. Hence, we discard the first term in parenthesis in (3.26) and are left with

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_4 \to 0} \langle \langle TTTT \rangle \rangle^{(s)} = -\frac{(\varepsilon_4 \cdot k_3)^2}{2k_3} \partial_{k_3} \langle \langle TTT \rangle \rangle + \frac{\varepsilon_4 \cdot \varepsilon_3 \varepsilon_4 \cdot k_3}{2k_3^2} \varepsilon_3^{(i)} k_3^{(j)} \partial_{\varepsilon_3^{ij}} \langle \langle TTT \rangle \rangle + \dots \quad (3.32)$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_4^{ij}k_{3i}\partial_{k_{3j}}\langle\langle TTT\rangle\rangle + \dots, \qquad (3.33)$$

where the momentum derivative in the second line acts on the bulk-to-boundary propagator of leg 3. To go from the second line to the first line, we recalled that the bulk-to-boundary propagator can be expressed in terms of a scalar propagator dressed with a polarisation and combined (3.18) with (2.11) to obtain [25]

$$\frac{\partial \varepsilon_{ij}}{\partial k^l} = -\frac{k_i \varepsilon_{jl} + k_j \varepsilon_{il}}{k^2}.$$
(3.34)

Note the similarity to the soft gluon limit in (3.17). In particular, (3.32) consists of an energy derivative which gives rise to a cubic energy pole which can be thought of as the AdS analogue of the Weinberg soft pole, plus a polarisation derivative which is subleading in the flat space limit. The full soft limit is obtained by summing over the s,t, and u channels.

4 General multiplicity

In the previous section, we computed soft limits of four-point correlators in AdS_4 . In this section, we will generalise these formulae to arbitrary multiplicity by computing the soft limit of general class I diagrams, which take the following form:



where \vec{k}_s is the momentum that we take soft and \vec{k}_h is a generic hard momentum. Note that these diagrams are the same ones that give rise to the Weinberg soft theorems in flat space. In appendix D we compute the soft limit of general diagrams in Yang-Mills using momentum space Feynman rules and show that only class I diagrams give rise to energy derivatives or poles in the energy of individual hard legs. For gravity it is much more challenging to directly evaluate class I diagrams due to the complexity of the Feynman rules so we resort to bootstrap techniques in Mellin momentum space recently developed in [41, 42]. In particular, the blob in (4.1) represents an *n*-point Mellin-momentum amplitude which we will review in the next subsection.

4.1 Mellin-momentum amplitudes

For many applications, it is useful to formally represent boundary correlators in terms of a certain differential operator acting on a scalar contact diagram:

$$\left\langle \left\langle \mathcal{O}\left(\vec{k}_{1}\right)\dots\mathcal{O}\left(\vec{k}_{n}\right)\right\rangle \right\rangle = \int \frac{dz}{z^{d+1}}\mathcal{A}_{n}(z,\vec{k}_{a},\vec{\varepsilon}_{a})\prod_{a=1}^{n}\phi_{\Delta}(k_{a},z),\tag{4.2}$$

where the left-hand-side represents a generic scalar or spinning correlator. This is known as the differential representation [44–46]. Spinning correlators can be represented this way because bulk-to-boundary propagators can be expressed in terms of scalar propagators dressed with polarisations [41]. The differential operator \mathcal{A}_n contains tensor structures constructed from external polarisations and momenta, interaction vertices dressed with additional z factors, and bulk-to-bulk propagators which are formally encoded by the inverse of the differential

operator in (2.6). In more detail, noting that a bulk-to-bulk scalar propagator satisfies

$$\mathcal{D}_k^{\Delta}(z)G_{\Delta}(k,z,y) = z^{d+1}\delta(z-y), \qquad (4.3)$$

where Δ is the scaling dimension, (z, y) are two radial coordinates, and k is the energy flowing through the propagator, we see that the insertion of a bulk-to-bulk propagator can be represented by acting with $(\mathcal{D}_k^{\Delta}(z))^{-1}$ as follows:

$$(\mathcal{D}_{k}^{\Delta}(z))^{-1}F(z) = \int \frac{dy}{y^{d+1}} G_{\Delta}(k, z, y)F(y), \qquad (4.4)$$

where F(z) is any function. For example, the s-channel exchange of a scalar field of conformal dimension Δ and momentum $k_S \equiv |\vec{k}_1 + \vec{k}_2|$ can be represented as

$$\int \frac{dz}{z^{d+1}} \int \frac{dx}{x^{d+1}} \phi_{\Delta_1}(k_1, z) \phi_{\Delta_2}(k_2, z) G_{\Delta}(k_S, z, x) \phi_{\Delta_3}(k_3, x) \phi_{\Delta_4}(k_4, x), \qquad (4.5)$$

which corresponds to having $\mathcal{A}_4(z, k_1, k_2, k_3, k_4) = 1/\mathcal{D}_{k_S}^{\Delta}$ in (4.2). Similarly, spinning bulkto-bulk propagators can be expressed in terms of scalar bulk-to-bulk propagators dressed with tensor structures plus additional terms that we will not need to specify because they will automatically be captured by the bootstrap procedure that we will describe in the next subsection.

It is convenient to perform a Mellin transformation of the bulk-to-boundary propagators [39, 40, 57]:

$$\phi_{\Delta}(k,z) = \int_{-i\infty}^{+i\infty} \frac{ds}{2\pi i} z^{-2s+d/2} \phi_{\Delta}(s,k), \qquad (4.6)$$

where

$$\phi_{\Delta}(s,k) = \frac{\Gamma\left(s + \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{d}{2} - \Delta\right)\right)\Gamma\left(s - \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{d}{2} - \Delta\right)\right)}{2\Gamma\left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2} + 1\right)}\left(\frac{k}{2}\right)^{-2s + \Delta - \frac{d}{2}}$$
(4.7)

is the Mellin representation of a bulk-to-boundary propagator which satisfies

$$\left(z^{2}k^{2} + (d/2 - \Delta)^{2} - 4s^{2}\right)\phi_{\Delta}(s,k) = 0.$$
(4.8)

After performing Mellin transformations of the bulk-to-boundary propagators in (4.2), we can replace certain z-derivatives in \mathcal{A}_n with Mellin variables and the resulting object will be referred to as a Mellin-momentum amplitude.³ In Mellin-momentum space, the soft limit then corresponds to taking $\vec{k}_a \to 0$ along with $s \to -\frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{d}{2} - \Delta\right)$, as we explain in appendix B.

4.2 Bootstrap

We will now review some bootstrap techniques developed in [41, 42] that will be relevant to this paper. To carry out the bootstrap, we only need to specify the three-point gluon and graviton Mellin-momentum amplitudes, which are given by

$$\mathcal{A}_{3}^{\mathrm{YM}} = z(\varepsilon_{1} \cdot \varepsilon_{2}\varepsilon_{3} \cdot k_{1} + \varepsilon_{2} \cdot \varepsilon_{3}\varepsilon_{1} \cdot k_{2} + \varepsilon_{3} \cdot \varepsilon_{1}\varepsilon_{2} \cdot k_{3}), \qquad (4.9)$$

$$\mathcal{A}_{3}^{\mathrm{GR}} = (\mathcal{A}_{3}^{\mathrm{YM}})^{2} = z^{2} (\varepsilon_{1} \cdot \varepsilon_{2} \varepsilon_{3} \cdot k_{1} + \varepsilon_{2} \cdot \varepsilon_{3} \varepsilon_{1} \cdot k_{2} + \varepsilon_{3} \cdot \varepsilon_{1} \varepsilon_{2} \cdot k_{3})^{2}.$$
(4.10)

³We cannot generally replace z derivatives appearing in $\mathcal{D}_{k}^{\Delta}(z)^{-1}$ with Mellin variables except in the limit $k \to 0$. When converting to Mellin variables one should also note that $f(s)k^{2} \to f(s+1)\left(\frac{(d/2-\Delta)^{2}-4s^{2}}{z^{2}}\right)$, where f(s) is any rational function of the Mellin variable s.

Higher-point amplitudes can then be bootstrapped by making an ansatz and imposing various constraints. For a general class I diagram in (4.1), we make the following ansatz in Yang-Mills and gravity, respectively:

$$\mathcal{A}_{n+1}^{\text{YM1}} = \frac{a_{s+h}^{\text{YM}}}{\mathcal{D}_{k_{s+h}}^{d-1}} + \frac{b_{s+h}}{k_{s+h}^2}, \quad \mathcal{A}_{n+1}^{\text{GR1}} = \frac{a_{s+h}^{\text{GR}}}{\mathcal{D}_{k_{s+h}}^d} + \frac{b_{s+h}^{(1)}}{k_{s+h}^2} + \frac{b_{s+h}^{(2)}}{k_{s+h}^4} + c^{AZ}, \quad (4.11)$$

where $k_{s+h} = |\vec{k}_s + \vec{k}_h|$ and the coefficients a, b, c depend on momenta and polarisations. Note that the supercripts YM1 and GR1 indicate that we are only considering the Mellin-momentum representation of an individual class I diagram. The soft limit of full Mellin-momentum amplitudes will then be obtained by summing over all contributing class I diagrams. The first term in each ansatz encodes the bulk-to-bulk propagator in the class I diagram, noting that spinning bulk-to-bulk propagators can be expressed in terms of scalar bulk-to-bulk propagators dressed with tensor structures plus additional terms which we do not need to specify for the bootstrap procedure.

The coefficients in (4.11) can be fixed by imposing the following constraints:

• Factorization: we can choose the coefficient of $\frac{1}{\mathcal{D}_{k_I}^{\Delta}}$ to be a product of lower-point amplitudes [58–60]:

$$a_{s+h}^{\rm YM} = \sum_{r} \mathcal{A}_3^{\rm YM,i} \varepsilon_i^r \varepsilon_j^{*r} \mathcal{A}_n^{\rm YM,j}, \quad a_{s+h}^{\rm GR} = \sum_{r} \mathcal{A}_3^{{\rm GR},i_1i_2} \varepsilon_{i_1i_2}^r \varepsilon_{j_1j_2}^{*r} \mathcal{A}_n^{{\rm GR},j_1j_2}, \tag{4.12}$$

where r labels transverse traceless states and $\mathcal{A}_n = \mathcal{A}_n^i \varepsilon_i$. The polarisation sums are given by

$$\sum_{r} \varepsilon_{i}(k,r)\varepsilon_{j}(k,r)^{*} = \eta_{ij} - \frac{k_{i}k_{j}}{k^{2}} \equiv \Pi_{ij}$$

$$\sum_{r} \varepsilon_{ij}(k,r)\varepsilon_{kl}(k,r)^{*} = \frac{1}{2}\Pi_{ik}\Pi_{jl} + \frac{1}{2}\Pi_{il}\Pi_{kj} - \frac{1}{d-1}\Pi_{ij}\Pi_{kl}.$$
(4.13)

Note that we can add terms to the right-hand-side of (4.12) which are proportional to $\mathcal{D}_{k_I}^{\Delta}$, but this will cancel the $\frac{1}{\mathcal{D}_{k_I}^{\Delta}}$ in (4.11) so such terms can be absorbed into the other coefficients of the ansatz.

• **OPE limit**: if two operators \mathcal{O}_a and \mathcal{O}_b become close together in position space, in momentum space this corresponds to the sum of their momenta $\vec{k}_I = \vec{k}_a + \vec{k}_b$ becoming soft. On the other hand, the operator product expansion (OPE) implies that the correlator should factorise into a product of lower-point correlators times a two-point function which scales like $k_I^{2\Delta-d}$ (where Δ is the scaling dimension of the exchanged operator) plus terms which have no poles in k_I [21, 29, 39, 41, 42, 61–66]. For exchanged gluons and gravitons, $\Delta = d - 1$ and d, respectively, so for d > 2 this contribution vanishes as $k_I \to 0$. For class I diagrams, we therefore find that

$$\operatorname{Res}_{k_{s+h}^2 \to 0} \mathcal{A}_{n+1}^{\mathrm{YM}} = 0. \qquad \operatorname{Res}_{k_{s+h}^2 \to 0} \mathcal{A}_{n+1}^{\mathrm{GR}} = \operatorname{Res}_{k_{s+h}^4 \to 0} \mathcal{A}_{n+1}^{\mathrm{GR}} = 0.$$
(4.14)

These constraints fix the b's in (4.11).

• Adler zero: suppose we reduce two external gravitons to scalars by imposing $\varepsilon_a \cdot \varepsilon_b = 1$ and $\varepsilon_a \cdot k_c = \varepsilon_b \cdot k_c = 0$, where a, b label the scalars and c labels any leg. After doing so, we obtain a correlator of the form $\langle \phi \phi h h h \dots \rangle$ where the scalars couple to gravity via $\nabla^{\mu} \phi \nabla^{\nu} \phi h_{\mu\nu}$ and enjoy a shift symmetry $\phi \to \phi + \text{constant}$. It follows that the Mellin-momentum amplitude must vanish when taking the soft limit of a scalar field, which is an Alder zero in curved space [32, 67]. This constraint fixes c^{AZ} in (4.11).

4.3 Gluon soft limit

Let us now use the bootstrap method described above to compute the soft limit of a general class I diagram for gluons:



Starting from the ansatz in (4.11), we have

$$\mathcal{A}_{n+1}^{\rm YM1} = \frac{a_{s+h}^{\rm YM}}{\mathcal{D}_{k_{s+h}}^{d-1}} + \frac{b_{s+h}^{\rm YM}}{k_{s+h}^2},\tag{4.16}$$

where $k_{s+h} = |\vec{k}_s + \vec{k}_h|$. Factorisation then implies that

$$a_{s+h}^{\rm YM} = \sum_{r} \mathcal{A}_3^{\rm YM,i} \varepsilon_i^r \varepsilon_j^{r,*} \mathcal{A}_n^{\rm YM,j} = \mathcal{A}_3^{\rm YM,i} \Pi_{ij} \mathcal{A}_n^{\rm YM,j}, \qquad (4.17)$$

where the arguments of the three-point subamplitude are given by $\mathcal{A}_3^{\text{YM}}(\varepsilon_h, \varepsilon_s, \varepsilon_r, k_h, k_s, -k_{s+h})$ and Π_{ij} is given in (4.13). If we now take \vec{k}_s soft, we obtain

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_s \to 0} \frac{a_{s+h}}{\mathcal{D}_{k_{s+h}}^{d-1}} = -\frac{z\varepsilon_s \cdot k_h \mathcal{A}_n^{\rm YM}}{\mathcal{D}_{k_h}^{d-1}},\tag{4.18}$$

where we used the explicit form of the three-gluon amplitude in (4.10).

Next let us use the OPE constraint in (4.14) to fix b_{s+h} in (4.16). Plugging (4.17) into (4.16) and noting that Π_{ij} has a pole in k_{s+h}^2 , we find that

$$b_{s+h} = -\underset{k_{s+h}^2 \to 0}{\operatorname{Res}} \frac{\mathcal{A}_3^{\mathrm{YM},i} \Pi_{ij} \mathcal{A}_n^{\mathrm{YM},j}}{\mathcal{D}_{k_{s+h}}^{d-1}}$$
$$= \frac{z(k_s^j + k_h^j) \mathcal{A}_n^{\mathrm{YM},j} (k_h^2 - k_s^2) \varepsilon_s \cdot \varepsilon_h}{4 (d - 2s_h - 2s_s) (s_h + s_s - 1)}$$
$$= \frac{k_{h+s}^j \partial_{\varepsilon_h^j} \mathcal{A}_n^{\mathrm{YM}} \varepsilon_s \cdot \varepsilon_h (s_h - s_s)}{2z \left(\frac{d}{2} - (1 + s_h + s_s)\right)}.$$
(4.19)

To obtain the second line in (4.19), we used

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_{s+h}\to 0} \frac{1}{\mathcal{D}_{k_{s+h}}^{d-1}} = \frac{1}{2\left(d - 2s_h - 2s_s\right)\left(s_h + s_s - 1\right)},\tag{4.20}$$

which follows from acting with \mathcal{D}^{-1} on the Mellin representation (4.6) of $z\phi_{d-1}(z,k_h) \times \phi_{d-1}(z,k_s)$. To obtain the third line in (4.19), we used $f(s)k^2 \to f(s+1)\left(\frac{(d/2-\Delta)^2-4s^2}{z^2}\right)$. Using (4.19) and recalling that we must take $s \to \frac{d}{4} - 1/2$ in the soft limit, we find that

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_s \to 0} \frac{b_{s+h}}{k_{h+s}^2} = -\varepsilon_s \cdot \varepsilon_h \frac{k_h \cdot \partial_{\varepsilon_h} \mathcal{A}_n^{\text{YM}}}{2zk_h^2}.$$
(4.21)

Combining the results in (4.18) and (4.21), we find that the soft limit of a general class I diagram in YM is given by

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_s \to 0} \mathcal{A}_{n+1}^{\text{YM1}} = -\frac{z\varepsilon_s \cdot k_h \mathcal{A}_n^{\text{YM}}}{\mathcal{D}_{k_h}^{d-1}} - \varepsilon_s \cdot \varepsilon_h \frac{k_h \cdot \partial_{\varepsilon_h} \mathcal{A}_n^{\text{YM}}}{2zk_h^2}.$$
(4.22)

The first term is the natural generalization of a Weinberg soft term in flat space after replacing $k_s \cdot k_h \to \mathcal{D}_{k_{s+h}}^{\Delta}$, while the second term is subleading in the flat space limit which can be seen by taking $z \to \infty$.

In appendix C we show how to translate (4.22) to correlation functions in momentum space. After relabeling the soft leg as n + 1 and summing over all class I diagrams, we then obtain the following formula for the soft limit of color-ordered gluon correlators in AdS_{d+1} :

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_{n+1}\to 0} \langle \langle J \dots J \rangle \rangle_{n+1} = \mathcal{N}_{d-1} \left\{ \frac{\varepsilon_{n+1} \cdot k_n}{2k_n} \partial_{k_n} \langle \langle J \dots J \rangle \rangle_n - \frac{\varepsilon_{n+1} \cdot \varepsilon_n}{2k_n^2} k_n \cdot \partial_{\varepsilon_n} \langle \langle J \dots J \rangle \rangle_n \right\} - \left(\vec{k}_n \to \vec{k}_1, \vec{\varepsilon}_n \to \vec{\varepsilon}_1 \right) + \dots$$

$$(4.23)$$

$$= \frac{\mathcal{N}_{d-1}}{\left\{\varepsilon_{i+1}^{i}\partial_{k}\left(\langle J,\dots,J\rangle\right)_{n} - \varepsilon_{i+1}^{i}\partial_{k}\left(\langle J,\dots,J\rangle\right)_{n}\right\} + \dots$$
(4.24)

 $=\frac{\gamma \cdot a-1}{2} \left\{ \varepsilon_{n+1}^{i} \partial_{k_{ni}} \langle \langle J \dots J \rangle \rangle_{n} - \varepsilon_{n+1}^{i} \partial_{k_{1i}} \langle \langle J \dots J \rangle \rangle_{n} \right\} + \dots \quad (4.24)$ where $\mathcal{N}_{d-1} = \frac{2^{(d-3)/2} \Gamma\left(\frac{d-2}{2}\right)}{\sqrt{\pi}}$ and \dots denotes contributions from non-class I diagrams. Note that the derivatives only act on the bulk-to-boundary propagators of hard legs. In particular, the energy derivative in (4.23) gives rise to a double pole in the energy while the polarisation derivative is subleading in the flat space limit. These two terms can then be combined into a single momentum derivative acting on bulk-to-boundary propagators using (3.18). In appendix D, we compute the soft limit of general YM diagrams using momentum space Feynman rules and find that non-class I diagrams do not give energy derivatives or poles in the energy of individual hard legs. Hence, (4.23) provides non-trivial constraints on gluon correlators. We illustrate how this works at five points in appendix E and the Mathematica notebook 5ptYM.nb in the Supplementary material.

Note that the soft factors of (4.24) are infrared finite, in contrast to the Weinberg soft factors in flat space. Another important property of Weinberg soft factors is that they are gauge-invariant [1]. On the other hand, the soft factors in (4.24) do not exhibit this property because under gauge transformations correlators get shifted by boundary contact terms (see for example [55, 68, 69] for more details). Moreover, (4.24) only encodes the contribution of class I diagrams to the soft limit. In the next section we will see that similar comments apply to graviton correlators.

4.4 Graviton soft limit

As we did for gluons, we will now consider the soft limit of class I diagrams for gravitons, which we depict below:



In this case, we start with the ansatz

$$\mathcal{A}_{n+1}^{\text{GR1}} = \frac{a_{s+h}^{\text{GR}}}{\mathcal{D}_{k_{s+h}}^d} + \frac{b_{s+h}^{(1)}}{k_{s+h}^2} + \frac{b_{s+h}^{(2)}}{k_{s+h}^4} + c^{AZ}, \qquad (4.26)$$

where the first term is determined from factorization, the second and the third terms from the OPE limit, and the fourth term from the Adler zero condition after dimensional reduction. We have included in the Supplementary material a Mathematica file Class1.nb with more details, so we will just sketch how this works below. As explained in (4.12), factorisation implies that

$$a_{s+h}^{\rm GR} = \sum_{r} \mathcal{A}_3^{{\rm GR}, i_1 i_2} \left(\frac{1}{2} \Pi_{i_1 j_1} \Pi_{i_2 j_2} + \frac{1}{2} \Pi_{i_1 j_2} \Pi_{j_1 i_2} - \frac{1}{d-1} \Pi_{i_1 i_2} \Pi_{j_1 j_2} \right) \mathcal{A}_n^{{\rm GR}, j_1 j_2}, \qquad (4.27)$$

where the sum is over transverse traceless states. Taking the soft limit $\vec{k}_s \to 0$ then gives

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_s \to 0} \frac{a_{s+h}^{\text{GR}}}{\mathcal{D}_{k_{s+h}}^d} = \frac{z^2 \left(\varepsilon_s \cdot k_h\right)^2 \mathcal{A}_n^{\text{GR}}}{\mathcal{D}_{k_h}^d}.$$
(4.28)

Next let us use the OPE constraints in (4.14) to fix $b_{s+h}^{(1)}$ and $b_{s+h}^{(2)}$ in (4.26). Since Π_{ij} has a pole in k_{s+h}^2 , we see that the right-hand-side of (4.27) has both k_{s+h}^2 and k_{s+h}^4 poles. Hence, the OPE constraints imply that

$$\frac{b_{s+h}^{(1)}}{k_{s+h}^2} = -\frac{1}{k_{h+s}^2} \left(\underset{k_{s+h}^2 \to 0}{\operatorname{Res}} \frac{a_{s+h}}{\mathcal{D}_{k_{s+h}}^d} \right)$$
$$\frac{b_{s+h}^{(2)}}{k_{s+h}^4} = -\frac{1}{k_{h+s}^4} \left(\underset{k_{s+h}^4 \to 0}{\operatorname{Res}} \frac{a_{s+h}}{\mathcal{D}_{k_{s+h}}^d} \right).$$
(4.29)

Since there are $1/k_{s+h}^4$ poles, we must expand $1/\mathcal{D}$ to order k_{s+h}^2 in order to compute the residue of $1/k_{s+h}^2$.⁴

$$\frac{1}{\mathcal{D}_{k_{s+h}}^{d-1}} = \frac{1}{2(s_h + s_s - 1)(d - 2s_h - 2s_s + 2)} - \frac{z^2 k_{s+h}^2}{4(s_h + s_s - 2)(s_h + s_s - 1)(d - 2s_h - 2s_s + 2)(d - 2s_h - 2s_s + 4)} + \dots$$
(4.30)

where ... denote higher order terms in k_{s+h}^2 and we computed the action of $1/\mathcal{D}$ on the Mellin representation (4.6) of $z^2 \phi_d(z, k_h) \phi_d(z, k_s)$. Plugging (4.27) and (4.30) into (4.29) then determines $b_{s+h}^{(1)}$ and $b_{s+h}^{(2)}$. In the soft limit we then find

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_s \to 0} \frac{b_{s+h}^{(1)}}{k_{s+h}^2} + \frac{b_{s+h}^{(2)}}{k_{s+h}^4} = -\frac{(\varepsilon_s \cdot \varepsilon_h)^2 \mathcal{A}_{j,n}^{j,\text{GR}}}{4(1-d)} + \frac{\varepsilon_s \cdot \varepsilon_h \varepsilon_s \cdot k_h \varepsilon_h^i k_h^j \mathcal{A}_n^{\text{GR},ij}}{k_h^2}, \quad (4.31)$$

where we recalled that we must take the Mellin variable $s \to d/4$ in this limit.

Finally, let us deduce the coefficient c^{AZ} in (4.26) by imposing $\varepsilon_s \cdot \varepsilon_h = 1, \varepsilon_s \cdot k_a = 0, \varepsilon_h \cdot k_a = 0$, where *a* can be any leg. This reduces the two external legs attached to the three-point vertex in (4.25) to scalars which enjoy shift symmetries and therefore exhibit Adler zeros. Demanding that the soft limits of these legs vanishes then fixes c^{AZ} (see Class1.nb in the Supplementary material for the expression). In the soft limit we then find that c^{AZ} reduces to

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_s \to 0} c^{AZ} = \frac{(\varepsilon_s \cdot \varepsilon_h)^2 \mathcal{A}_{j,n}^{j,\text{GR}}}{4(1-d)}.$$
(4.32)

Adding the results in (4.28), (4.31), and (4.32) finally gives

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_s \to 0} \mathcal{A}_{n+1}^{\text{GR1}} = \frac{z^2 \left(\varepsilon_s \cdot k_h\right)^2 \mathcal{A}_n^{\text{GR}}}{\mathcal{D}_{k_h}^d} + \frac{\varepsilon_s \cdot \varepsilon_h \varepsilon_s \cdot k_h \varepsilon_h^i k_h^j \mathcal{A}_n^{\text{GR}, ij}}{k_h^2}.$$
(4.33)

Note the similarity to the gluonic soft limit in (4.22): the first term contains the soft limit of a bulk-to-bulk scalar propagator and represents the analogue of a Weinberg soft term in AdS while the second term contains a momentum derivative is subleading in the flat space limit, $z \to \infty$.

In appendix C we explain how to translate (4.33) to correlators in momentum space. Relabelling the soft leg as n+1 and summing over all class I diagrams then gives the following formula for the soft limit of graviton correlators in AdS_{d+1} :

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_{n+1}\to 0} \langle \langle T \dots T \rangle \rangle_{n+1} = \mathcal{N}_d \left\{ \sum_{a=1}^n -\frac{(\varepsilon_{n+1} \cdot k_a)^2}{2k_a} \partial_{k_a} \langle \langle T \dots T \rangle \rangle_n + \frac{\varepsilon_{n+1} \cdot \varepsilon_a \varepsilon_{n+1} \cdot k_a}{2k_a^2} \varepsilon_a^{(i} k_a^{j)} \partial_{\varepsilon_a^{ij}} \langle \langle T \dots T \rangle \rangle_n \right\} + \dots,$$
(4.34)

$$= -\frac{\mathcal{N}_d}{2} \sum_{a=1}^n \varepsilon_{n+1}^{ij} k_{ai} \partial_{k_{aj}} \langle \langle T \dots T \rangle \rangle_n + \dots, \qquad (4.35)$$

⁴One can do so using $(A+B)^{-1} = A^{-1} - A^{-1}B(A+B)^{-1}$, where A and B are operators.

where $\mathcal{N}_d = \frac{2^{(d-1)/2}\Gamma(\frac{d}{2})}{\sqrt{\pi}}$, the derivatives only act on bulk-to-boundary propagators of the hard legs, and ... denote contributions from non-class I diagrams. As in YM, those contributions do not contain energy derivatives or poles in the energy of individual hard legs. Hence, the soft limit of class I diagrams can be distinguished from that of other diagrams and (4.34) imposes non-trivial constraints on graviton correlators. Note that the energy and polarisation derivatives in (4.34) can be combined into a single momentum derivative in the third line using (3.18) and (3.34).

5 Conclusion

In this paper we derived formulae for the soft limit of gluon and graviton correlators in AdS arising from class I diagrams which give rise to the Weinberg soft theorems in flat space. At four points, we obtained these formulae using explicit formulae recently obtained using cosmological boostrap methods and the double copy [37, 38]. We then generalised them to arbitrary multiplicity by computing the soft limit of general class I diagrams using bootstrap methods in Mellin-momentum space which were recently developed in [41, 42]. The soft limits take the form of a differential operator acting on bulk-to-boundary propagators of lower-point correlators which is schematically a sum of two terms: an energy derivative dressed with the same tensor structure appearing in the Weinberg soft theorems plus a polarisation derivative which is subleading in the flat space limit. These two terms can be combined into a single momentum derivative acting on hard bulk-to-boundary propagators. Other classes of diagrams can also contribute to the soft limit above four points, but they have different pole structure than class I diagrams. In particular, they do not exhibit energy derivatives, which give rise to higher order energy poles, or poles in the energy of individual hard legs. Our soft limit formulae therefore provide useful constraints on gluon and graviton correlators.

There are a number of follow-up directions. First of all, it would be very interesting to understand how to relate our soft limit formulae to consistency conditions for inflationary correlators, which were derived from Ward identities associated with certain large diffeomorphism symmetries [21, 22]. The first step would be to adapt these Ward identities from in-in correlators to wavefunction coefficients which can be mapped to AdS boundary correlators by analytic continuation. Given that the Weinberg soft theorems for scattering amplitudes can be derived from Ward identities associated with BMS symmetry [13], it seems plausible that the soft gluon and graviton formulae in this paper can be derived from an analogue of BMS symmetry recently discovered in (A)dS known as Λ -BMS symmetry [47]. It would also be interesting to understand how these symmetries are related to those which arise in the flat space limit (recent work showing how soft factors and BMS symmetry arise from the flat space limit of conformal Ward identities [70, 71] may be relevant for this purpose).

It would also be interesting to extend our calculations to subleading order in the soft momentum. These could in turn be used to deduce new consistency relations on inflationary correlators. In flat space, non-class I diagrams play an important role in subleading soft theorems and multiparticle soft limits [72], so we expect them to play an important role in AdS as well. In order to investigate the universality of soft gluon and graviton limits in AdS, we should also consider couplings to various kinds of matter [73]. Recently, soft limits of certain supersymmetric correlators in AdS₅ were investigated in [74, 75] so it would be interesting to make contact with those results as well. Finally, it would be of interest to see if soft limits can be used to bootstrap higher-point correlators. Indeed, soft limits impose very powerful constraints on scattering amplitudes and in some cases can even fully determine them [76]. For example, a certain class of gluon amplitudes known as MHV amplitudes can be fully reconstructed from their soft limits [77, 78] and are described by a very concise expression for any multiplicity known as the Parke-Taylor formula [79]. If we can use similar reasoning derive an all-multiplicity formula for gluon correlators in AdS that would be very significant. Twistor string formulae along these lines have been proposed in [80–82], although their physical interpretation is not yet clear. We hope to report on these exciting directions in the future.

Acknowledgments

We thank Sadra Jazayeri, Silvia Nagy, Enrico Pajer, Guilherme Pimentel, Santiago Agui Salcedo, Charlotte Sleight, and Massimo Taronna for useful discussions. AL is supported an STFC Consolidated Grant ST/T000708/1. JM is supported by a Durham-CSC Scholarship. CC is supported by the STFC consolidated grant (ST/X000583/1) "New Frontiers in Particle Physics, Cosmology and Gravity". YM is supported by a Edinburgh Global Research Scholarship.

A Four-point GR soft limit

In this appendix, we will derive (3.22). Our starting point will equation 4.9 of [38], which gives the s-channel contribution to the four-point tree-level graviton correlator:⁵

$$\langle \langle TTTT \rangle \rangle^{(s)} = \frac{1}{16} (\varepsilon_1 \cdot \varepsilon_2)^2 (\varepsilon_3 \cdot \varepsilon_4)^2 \psi_{\phi,\text{DC}}^{(s)} + \frac{1}{16} \left(8 (\varepsilon_1 \cdot \varepsilon_2) (\varepsilon_3 \cdot \varepsilon_4) W_s k_s^2 \Pi_{1,1} + 16 W_s^2 \right) f_{2,2} - \frac{1}{16} (\varepsilon_1 \cdot \varepsilon_2) (\varepsilon_3 \cdot \varepsilon_4) k_{12} k_{34} (8 W_s \Pi_{1,0} + \alpha \beta V_c^s) f_{2,1} + \frac{1}{16} \left((V_c^s)^2 + \frac{1}{2} (\varepsilon_1 \cdot \varepsilon_2)^2 (\varepsilon_3 \cdot \varepsilon_4)^2 \right) f_a + + \frac{1}{16} \left((\varepsilon_1 \cdot \varepsilon_2) (\varepsilon_3 \cdot \varepsilon_4) \left(\vec{k}_1 - \vec{k}_2 \right) \cdot \left(\vec{k}_3 - \vec{k}_4 \right) + 8 W_s \right) V_c^s f_b.$$
 (A.1)

where $W_s, \Pi_{1,1}, \Pi_{1,0}, V_c^s$ are given in (3.8), $\alpha = k_1 - k_2, \beta = k_3 - k_4$, and

$$\begin{split} \psi_{\phi,\mathrm{DC}}^{(s)} &= \frac{1}{3} k_S^4 f_{2,2} \Pi_{2,2} - \frac{1}{3} k_S^2 k_{12} k_{34} f_{2,1} \Pi_{2,1} + \frac{1}{2} f_{2,0} \frac{k_{12}^2 \alpha^2 k_{34}^2 \beta^2}{k_S^4} \\ &\quad - \frac{1}{2} f_{2,1} \left(\left(k_{12}^2 + \alpha^2 - k_s^2 - \frac{k_{12}^2 \alpha^2}{k_S^2} \right) \frac{k_{34}^2 \beta^2}{k_S^2} + \frac{k_{12}^2 \alpha^2}{k_S^2} \left(k_{34}^2 + \beta^2 - k_s^2 - \frac{k_{34}^2 \beta^2}{k_S^2} \right) \right), \\ f_{2,2} &= \frac{2k_1 k_2 k_3 k_4 \left(E_L E_R + k_{1234} k_S \right)}{k_{1234}^3 E_L^2 E_R^2} + \frac{k_1 k_2 \left(E_L k_{34} + k_{1234} k_S \right)}{k_{1234}^2 E_L E_R} \\ &\quad + \frac{k_3 k_4 \left(k_{1234} k_S + E_R k_{12} \right)}{k_{1234}^2 E_L E_R^2} + \frac{E_L E_R - k_S^2}{k_{1234} E_L E_R}, \\ f_{2,1} &= \frac{2k_1 k_3 k_4 k_2}{k_{1234}^2 k_{12} k_{34}} + \frac{k_1 k_2}{k_{1234}^2 k_{12}} + \frac{k_3 k_4}{k_{1234}^2 k_{34}} + \frac{1}{k_{1234}}, \end{split}$$

⁵We have introduced an overall factor of 1/16.

$$f_{a} = \left(k_{12}k_{34} + k_{S}^{2}\right)f_{b} + \frac{1}{k_{1234}}\left(2k_{1}k_{2}k_{3}k_{4} - k_{1}k_{2}\left(2k_{1234}^{2} + k_{12}^{2}\right)\right) \\ + \frac{1}{k_{1234}}\left(-k_{3}k_{4}\left(2k_{1234}^{2} + k_{34}^{2}\right) - 2k_{12}k_{34}k_{1234}^{2} + k_{1234}^{4}\right), \\ f_{b} = \left(\frac{2k_{1}k_{2}k_{3}k_{4}}{k_{1234}^{3}} + k_{1}k_{2}\frac{k_{34} + k_{1234}}{k_{1234}^{2}} + k_{3}k_{4}\frac{k_{12} + k_{1234}}{k_{1234}^{2}} + \frac{k_{12}k_{34} - k_{1234}^{2}}{k_{1234}}\right), \\ \Pi_{2,2} = \frac{3}{2k_{S}^{4}}\left(\vec{k}_{1} - \vec{k}_{2}\right)^{i}\left(\vec{k}_{1} - \vec{k}_{2}\right)^{j}\left(\Pi_{il}\Pi_{jm} + \Pi_{im}\Pi_{jl} - \Pi_{ij}\Pi_{lm}\right)\left(\vec{k}_{3} - \vec{k}_{4}\right)^{l}\left(\vec{k}_{3} - \vec{k}_{4}\right)^{m}, \\ \Pi_{2,1} = \frac{3}{2k_{S}^{2}k_{12}k_{34}}\left(\vec{k}_{1} - \vec{k}_{2}\right)^{i}\left(\vec{k}_{1} - \vec{k}_{2}\right)^{j}\left(\Pi_{il}\hat{k}_{j}\hat{k}_{m} + \Pi_{jm}\hat{k}_{i}\hat{k}_{l} + \Pi_{im}\hat{k}_{j}\hat{k}_{l} + \Pi_{jl}\hat{k}_{i}\hat{k}_{m}\right) \\ \left(\vec{k}_{3} - \vec{k}_{4}\right)^{l}\left(\vec{k}_{3} - \vec{k}_{4}\right)^{m}.$$
(A.2)

where $k_S = \left| \vec{k}_1 + \vec{k}_2 \right|, E_L = k_{12} + k_S, E_R = k_{34} + k_S$, and $\hat{k}_i = \frac{(\vec{k}_1 + \vec{k}_2)_i}{k_S}$.

Let us now take the limit $\vec{k}_4 \to 0$. We then find that $\Pi_{1,1}$ vanishes and f_a vanishes up to boundary contact terms:

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_4 \to 0} f_a = k_1^3 + k_2^3. \tag{A.3}$$

Hence, we can drop terms proportional to $\Pi_{1,1}$ and f_a . Moreover, with a bit of algebra we can show that all terms proportional to $(\varepsilon_1 \cdot \varepsilon_2)^2 (\varepsilon_3 \cdot \varepsilon_4)^2$ vanish in the soft limit. This can understood from an emergent shift symmetry after dimensional reduction, as explained in section 4.2. We also find that the following linear combination of terms reduces to a boundary contact term in the soft limit:

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_4 \to 0} \left[-\left(\varepsilon_1 \cdot \varepsilon_2\right) \left(\varepsilon_3 \cdot \varepsilon_4\right) k_{12} k_{34} \left(\alpha \beta V_c^s\right) f_{2,1} + \left(\left(\varepsilon_1 \cdot \varepsilon_2\right) \left(\varepsilon_3 \cdot \varepsilon_4\right) \left(\vec{k}_1 - \vec{k}_2\right) \cdot \left(\vec{k}_3 - \vec{k}_4\right)\right) V_c^s f_b \right] \\
= \left(\varepsilon_1 \cdot \varepsilon_2\right) \left(\varepsilon_3 \cdot \varepsilon_4\right) V_c^s \left(k_1^3 - k_2^3\right), \tag{A.4}$$

where we noted that

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_4 \to 0} f_{2,1} = \frac{k_1 k_2}{k_{123}^2 k_{12}} + \frac{1}{k_{123}},$$
$$\lim_{\vec{k}_4 \to 0} f_b = \frac{k_2 k_3 k_1}{k_{123}^2} + \frac{k_1 k_2 + k_3 k_2 + k_1 k_3}{k_{123}} - k_{123}.$$
(A.5)

In summary, we find that the following terms in (A.1) survive in the soft limit:

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_{4}\to0} \langle \langle TTTT \rangle \rangle^{(s)} = \lim_{\vec{k}_{4}\to0} \left[W_{s}^{2} f_{2,2} - \frac{1}{2} \left(\varepsilon_{1} \cdot \varepsilon_{2} \right) \left(\varepsilon_{3} \cdot \varepsilon_{4} \right) k_{12} k_{34} W_{s} \Pi_{1,0} f_{2,1} + \frac{1}{2} W_{s} V_{c}^{s} f_{b} \right].$$
(A.6)

We can now evaluate the right-hand-side using (A.5) and the following soft limits:

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_4 \to 0} W_s = \left(\varepsilon_1 \cdot \varepsilon_2 k_2 \cdot \varepsilon_3 + \varepsilon_3 \cdot \varepsilon_1 k_1 \cdot \varepsilon_2 + \varepsilon_3 \cdot \varepsilon_2 k_3 \cdot \varepsilon_1\right) k_3 \cdot \varepsilon_4,$$
$$\lim_{\vec{k}_4 \to 0} f_{2,2} = \frac{k_1 k_2}{k_{123}^3} + \frac{k_1 + k_2}{2k_{123}^2} + \frac{1}{2k_{123}}.$$
(A.7)

We then obtain (3.22) after some algebra.

B Soft limits in Mellin space

Using the differential representation in (4.2), the soft limit of a correlator can be directly evaluated by taking the soft limit of a bulk-to-boundary propagator in the contact diagram [32]. Let us therefore consider the soft limit of a scalar bulk-to-boundary propagator in (2.8):

$$\lim_{k \to 0} \phi_{\Delta}(k, z) = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \left[2^{-\frac{d}{2} + \Delta - 1} \Gamma\left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right) z^{d-\Delta} + 2^{\frac{d}{2} - \Delta - 1} z^{\Delta} \Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} - \Delta\right) k^{2\Delta - d} \right].$$
(B.1)

For $\Delta > d/2$ the second term gets power suppressed leaving us with

$$\lim_{k \to 0} \phi_{\Delta}(k, z) = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} 2^{-\frac{d}{2} + \Delta - 1} \Gamma\left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right) z^{d - \Delta}.$$
 (B.2)

On the other hand in Mellin space, the power expansion in (B.1) is encoded by the residues of the integral in (4.6):

$$\phi_{\Delta}(k,z) = \int_{-i\infty}^{+i\infty} \frac{ds}{2\pi i} z^{-2s+d/2} \frac{\Gamma\left(s + \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{d}{2} - \Delta\right)\right)\Gamma\left(s - \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{d}{2} - \Delta\right)\right)}{2\Gamma\left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2} + 1\right)} \left(\frac{k}{2}\right)^{-2s+\Delta - \frac{d}{2}}.$$
 (B.3)

The poles are located at $s = -x + \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{d}{2} - \Delta\right)$, corresponding to $k^{2\Delta - d + 2x}$, and $s = -x - \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{d}{2} - \Delta\right)$, corresponding to k^{2x} , where x is a non-negative integer. For $\Delta > d/2$, the x = 0 pole gives the leading contribution in the soft limit. Hence, in the soft limit we must take

$$s \to -\frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{d}{2} - \Delta \right).$$
 (B.4)

In particular, for YM ($\Delta = d - 1$) and GR ($\Delta = d$) we have

YM:
$$s \to \frac{d-2}{4}$$
,
GR: $s \to \frac{d}{4}$. (B.5)

C From Mellin to momentum space

In this appendix, we will translate the soft limits for Mellin-momentum amplitudes in (4.22) and (4.33) to correlators in momentum space.

C.1 Yang-Mills

Let us consider the first term on the right-hand-side of (4.22). We shall denote this contribution to the soft limit by the subscript 1. Plugging this into (4.2) to go from the Mellin momentum amplitude to the momentum space correlator gives

$$\langle \langle J_1 \dots J_{n-1} J_h J_s \rangle \rangle_1 = -\int_0^\infty \frac{dz_1}{z_1^{d+1}} \frac{dz_2}{z_2^{d+1}} \phi_\Delta\left(z_1, k_h\right) \phi_\Delta\left(z_1, k_s\right) z_1 G_\Delta\left(z_1, z_2, k_h\right)$$
$$\times \varepsilon_s \cdot k_h \varepsilon_h^j \mathcal{A}_n^{\mathrm{YM}, j}\left(z_2\right) \prod_{a=1}^{n-1} \phi_\Delta\left(z_2, k_a\right), \qquad (C.1)$$

where $\Delta = d - 1$ and the z_1 in the first line comes from the definition of the three-point YM amplitude in (4.10). The scalar bulk-to-boundary propagators are given by (2.8) and the soft propagator is expanded to first order in the soft momentum:

$$\phi_{d-1}(z,k_s) = \mathcal{N}_{d-1}z + O(k_s), \ \mathcal{N}_{d-1} = \frac{2^{(d-3)/2}\Gamma\left(\frac{d-2}{2}\right)}{\sqrt{\pi}}.$$
 (C.2)

For d = 2 there is a subtlety because $\Gamma\left(\frac{d-2}{2}\right)$ is singular, so we will focus on d > 2. The scalar bulk-to-bulk propagator in (C.1) is given by

$$G_{\Delta}(z_1, z_2, k_h) = \int_0^\infty dw \frac{w z_1^{d/2} z_2^{d/2} J_{\Delta - d/2}(w z_1) J_{\Delta - d/2}(w z_2)}{k_h^2 + w^2}.$$
 (C.3)

The integral over z_1 in (C.1) can be evaluated as follows:

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{dz_{1}}{z_{1}^{d+1}} \phi_{d-1}(z_{1},k_{h}) \phi_{d-1}(z_{1},k_{s}) z_{1}G(z_{1},z_{2},k_{h}+k_{s},d-1)$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} dz_{1} \int_{0}^{\infty} dw \frac{2^{\frac{d}{2}-1}k_{h}^{\frac{d}{2}-1}K_{\frac{d-2}{2}}(k_{h}z_{1})z_{1}\Gamma\left(\frac{d-2}{2}\right)wz_{2}^{d/2}J_{\frac{d-2}{2}}(wz_{1})J_{\frac{d-2}{2}}(wz_{2})}{\pi (k_{h}^{2}+w^{2})}$$

$$= \frac{2^{\frac{d}{2}-1}z_{2}^{\frac{d}{2}+1}\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}-1\right)k_{h}^{\frac{d}{2}-2}K_{\frac{d}{2}-2}(k_{h}z_{2})}{\pi}, \qquad (C.4)$$

where we used the following identities:

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} dz_{1} z_{1} J_{\frac{d-2}{2}} (wz_{1}) K_{\frac{d-2}{2}} (k_{h} z_{1}) = \frac{w^{\frac{d}{2}-1} k_{h}^{1-\frac{d}{2}}}{k_{h}^{2} + w^{2}}$$
$$\int_{0}^{\infty} dw \frac{w^{d/2} J_{\frac{d-2}{2}} (wz_{2})}{(k_{h}^{2} + w^{2})^{2}} = \frac{1}{2} z_{2} k_{h}^{\frac{d}{2}-2} K_{2-\frac{d}{2}} (k_{h} z_{2}).$$
(C.5)

Plugging this into (C.1) and performing the integral over z_2 then gives

$$\langle \langle J_{1} \dots J_{n-1} J_{h} J_{s} \rangle \rangle_{1}$$

$$= -\int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{dz_{2}}{z_{2}^{d+1}} \frac{2^{\frac{d}{2}-1} \Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}-1\right) z_{2}^{\frac{d}{2}+1} k_{h}^{\frac{d}{2}-2} K_{2-\frac{d}{2}}\left(k_{h} z_{2}\right)}{\pi} \varepsilon_{s} \cdot k_{h} \varepsilon_{h}^{j} \mathcal{A}_{n-1}^{\mathrm{YM}j}\left(z_{2}\right) \prod_{a=1}^{n-1} \phi_{d-1}\left(z_{2}, k_{a}\right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{N}_{d-1} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{dz_{2}}{z_{2}^{d+1}} \left(\frac{1}{k_{h}} \partial_{k_{h}} \phi_{d-1}\left(z_{2}, k_{h}\right)\right) \varepsilon_{s} \cdot k_{h} \varepsilon_{h}^{j} \mathcal{A}_{n-1}^{\mathrm{YM}j}\left(z_{2}, \vec{k}\right) \prod_{a=1}^{n-1} \phi_{d-1}\left(z_{2}, k_{a}\right)$$

$$= \mathcal{N}_{d-1} \frac{\varepsilon_{s} \cdot k_{h}}{2k_{h}} \partial_{k_{h}} \left\langle \langle J_{1} \dots J_{n-1} J_{h} \rangle \right\rangle,$$

$$(C.6)$$

where ∂_{k_h} acts on the hard gluon bulk-to-boundary propagator, which can be expressed in terms of a scalar bulk-to-boundary propagator dressed with a polarisation vector via (2.9). To obtain the second-to-last line above we noted that

$$\frac{1}{k_h}\partial_{k_h}\phi_{d-1}(z_2,k_h) = -\sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}}z_2^{\frac{d}{2}+1}k_h^{\frac{d}{2}-2}K_{\frac{d-4}{2}}(k_hz_2),$$
(C.7)

and we used $K_{\nu}(x) = K_{-\nu}(x)$ for ν a multiple of 1/2.

Now let us consider the second term on right-hand-side of (4.22). We shall denote this contribution to the soft limit by the subscript 2. Plugging this into (4.2) then gives

$$\langle \langle J_1 \dots J_{n-1} J_h J_s \rangle \rangle_2 = -\int \frac{dz}{z^{d+1}} \varepsilon_s \cdot \varepsilon_h \frac{k_h \cdot \mathcal{A}_n^{\mathrm{YM}}(z)}{2zk_h^2} \phi_{d-1}(z,k_s) \phi_{d-1}(z,k_h) \prod_{a=1}^{n-1} \phi_{d-1}(z,k_a)$$

$$= -\mathcal{N}_{d-1} \varepsilon_s \cdot \varepsilon_h \int \frac{dz}{z^{d+1}} \frac{k_h \cdot \mathcal{A}_n^{\mathrm{YM}}(z)}{2k_h^2} \phi_{d-1}(z,k_h) \prod_{a=1}^{n-1} \phi_{d-1}(z,k_a)$$

$$= -\mathcal{N}_{d-1} \frac{\varepsilon_s \cdot \varepsilon_h}{2k_h^2} k_h \cdot \partial_{\varepsilon_h} \left\langle \langle J_h J_3 \dots J_n \rangle \right\rangle.$$
(C.8)

where we used (C.2) in the second line. Adding (C.6) to (C.8), relabeling the soft leg as n + 1, and summing over all class I diagrams then gives (4.24). Note that the relative minus sign in (4.24) can be understood as coming from an antisymmetric structure constant which has been factored out of the color-ordered correlator.

C.2 Gravity

The analysis will be similar to the YM case. Let us consider the first term on the righthand-side of (4.33). We will denote its contribution to the soft limit by the subscript 1. Plugging this into (4.2) then gives

$$\langle \langle T_1 \dots T_{n-1} T_h T_s \rangle \rangle_1 = \int_0^\infty \frac{dz_1}{z_1^{d+1}} \frac{dz_2}{z_2^{d+1}} \phi_d(z_1, k_h) \phi_d(z_1, k_s) z_1^2 G_\Delta(z_1, z_2, k_h)$$
$$\times (\varepsilon_s \cdot k_h)^2 \varepsilon_h^i \varepsilon_h^j \mathcal{A}_n^{\mathrm{GR}ij} \prod_{a=1}^{n-1} \phi_d(z_2, k_a), \qquad (C.9)$$

where $\Delta = d$, the bulk-to-boundary propagators are given by (2.8), and we expand the soft bulk-to-boundary propagator to leading order in the soft momentum

$$\phi_d(z,k_s) = \mathcal{N}_d + \mathcal{O}(k_s), \quad \mathcal{N}_d = \frac{2^{(d-1)/2}\Gamma(\frac{d}{2})}{\sqrt{\pi}}.$$
 (C.10)

The scalar bulk-to-bulk propagator is given by (C.3) with $\Delta = d$.

Using the following identities:

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} dz_{1} z_{1} J_{\frac{d}{2}}(wz_{1}) K_{\frac{d}{2}}(k_{h}z_{1}) = \frac{w^{\frac{d}{2}} k_{h}^{-\frac{d}{2}}}{k_{h}^{2} + w^{2}}$$
$$\int_{0}^{\infty} dw \frac{w^{\frac{d}{2}+1} J_{\frac{d}{2}}(wz_{2})}{(k_{h}^{2} + w^{2})^{2}} = \frac{1}{2} z_{2} k_{h}^{\frac{d}{2}-1} K_{\frac{d-2}{2}}(k_{h}z_{2}), \qquad (C.11)$$

we can carry out the integral over z_1 in (C.9) to obtain

$$\langle \langle T_1 \dots T_{n-1} T_h T_s \rangle \rangle_1 = \int_0^\infty \frac{dz_2}{z_2^{d+1}} \frac{2^{\frac{d}{2}-1} \Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right) z_2^{\frac{d}{2}+1} k_h^{\frac{d}{2}-1} K_{\frac{d-2}{2}}\left(k_h z_2\right)}{\pi} \times \left(\varepsilon_s \cdot k_h\right)^2 \varepsilon_h^i \varepsilon_h^j \mathcal{A}_n^{\mathrm{GR}ij} \prod_{a=1}^{n-1} \phi_d\left(z_2, k_a\right) = -\mathcal{N}_d \int_0^\infty \frac{dz_2}{z_2^{d+1}} \frac{\left(\varepsilon_s \cdot k_h\right)^2}{2k_h} \left(\partial_{k_h} \phi_d\left(z_2, k_h\right)\right) \varepsilon_h^i \varepsilon_h^j \mathcal{A}_n^{\mathrm{GR}ij} \prod_{a=1}^{n-1} \phi_d\left(z_2, k_a\right) = -\mathcal{N}_d \frac{\left(\varepsilon_s \cdot k_h\right)^2}{2k_h} \partial_{k_h} \left\langle \langle T_1 \dots T_{n-1} T_h \right\rangle \right\rangle,$$
(C.12)

where the derivative acts on the bulk-to-boundary propagator of the hard graviton, which can be expressed as a scalar bulk-to-boundary propagator dressed with a polarisation as given in (2.9). To obtain the third line, we used

$$\frac{1}{k_h}\partial_{k_h}\phi_d(z_2,k_h) = -\sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}}z_2^{\frac{d}{2}+1}k_h^{\frac{d}{2}-1}K_{\frac{d-2}{2}}(k_hz_2).$$
(C.13)

Now consider the second term on the right-hand-side of (4.33). We will denote its contribution to the soft limit with the subscript 2. Plugging this into (4.2) then gives

$$\langle \langle T_1 \dots T_{n-1} T_h T_s \rangle \rangle_2 = \int_0^\infty \frac{dz}{z^{d+1}} \phi_d(z_1, k_h) \phi_d(z_1, k_s) \frac{\varepsilon_s \cdot \varepsilon_h \varepsilon_s \cdot k_h \varepsilon_h^i k_h^j \mathcal{M}_n^{ij}}{k_h^2} \prod_{a=1}^{n-1} \phi_d(z_2, k_a)$$

$$= \mathcal{N}_d \frac{\varepsilon_s \cdot \varepsilon_h \varepsilon_s \cdot k_h}{2k_h^2} \int_0^\infty \frac{dz}{z^{d+1}} \phi_d(z_1, k_h) \varepsilon_h^{(i} k_h^j) \mathcal{A}_n^{\mathrm{GR}ij} \prod_{a=1}^{n-1} \phi_d(z_2, k_a)$$

$$= \mathcal{N}_d \frac{\varepsilon_s \cdot \varepsilon_h \varepsilon_s \cdot k_h}{2k_h^2} \varepsilon_h^{(i} k_h^j) \partial_{\varepsilon_h^{ij}} \langle \langle T_1 \dots T_{n-1} T_h \rangle \rangle,$$
(C.14)

where we used (C.10) in the second line. Adding (C.12) to (C.14), relabeling the soft leg as n + 1, and summing over all class I diagrams then gives (4.35).

C.3 Further comments on Mellin momentum amplitudes

It is interesting to note the soft limit of class I diagrams can be expressed in a purely algebraic way in Mellin space. To see this, it is convenient to combine the soft scalar propagator with the rest of the Mellin-momentum amplitude as follows:

$$\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{n+1} = \mathcal{A}_{n+1}\phi_{\Delta}\left(z,k_s\right). \tag{C.15}$$

In the soft limit, this will rescale the Mellin momentum amplitude by a factor of z in YM and will have no effect in GR. On performing the Mellin transformation of bulk-to-boundary propagators following (4.6), the energy derivative on the hard bulk-to-boundary propagator in (C.6) gives

$$\partial_{k_h}\phi_{\Delta}(s,k_h) = \frac{(\Delta - d/2 - 2s)}{k_h}\phi_{\Delta}(s,k_h).$$
(C.16)

Thus, we can write (4.22) as

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_s \to 0} \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{n+1}^{\text{YM1}} \to \mathcal{N}_{d-1} \left(\frac{\varepsilon_s \cdot k_h \left(d/2 - 2s_h - 1 \right)}{2k_h^2} - \frac{\varepsilon_s \cdot \varepsilon_h}{2k_h^2} k_h \cdot \partial_{\varepsilon_h} \right) \mathcal{A}_n^{\text{YM}}.$$
(C.17)

Similarly, for gravity we find using (C.12)

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_s \to 0} \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{n+1}^{\text{GR1}} \to \mathcal{N}_d \left[-\frac{\left(\varepsilon_s \cdot k_h\right)^2 \left(d/2 - 2s_h\right)}{2k_h^2} + \frac{\varepsilon_s \cdot \varepsilon_h \varepsilon_s \cdot k_h}{2k_h^2} \varepsilon_h^{(i)} \varepsilon_h^{(j)} \partial_{\varepsilon_h^{(j)}} \right] \mathcal{A}_n^{\text{GR}}.$$
(C.18)

D Soft limits in momentum space

In this appendix we provide some more details about the soft limit of gluon correlators by directly analyzing Witten diagrams in momentum space.⁶ The following four classes of diagrams contribute to a generic YM correlator:⁷



A similar classification was used to prove soft theorems for superstring scattering amplitudes in flat space [83]. In particular, the Weinberg soft theorem in flat space arises only from class I diagrams above while the subleading soft theorem receives contributions from classes I and II. We first consider class I diagrams, obtaining results consistent with the bootstrap

⁶CC would like to thank Savan Kharel for useful discussions on this topic.

⁷We use \mathcal{F} here to distinguish expressions in momentum space from the corresponding expressions in Mellin momentum space in section 4.

procedure in section 4.3. Consider the soft limit of a general class I diagram as shown below:



where the propagators and the vertex factors are defined in axial gauge⁸ and the blob is defined as $\mathcal{F}_n^{\mathrm{YM},i}(z_1)$, with *i* a Lorentz index that contracts onto the rest of the diagram via a bulk-to-bulk propagator. Note that in the limit $\vec{k}_s \to 0$ we get

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_s \to 0} \mathcal{F}_{n+1}^{YM} = \int_0^\infty dz_1 dz_2 \mathcal{F}_n^{YM,i}(z_1) G_{ij}(z_1, z_2, k_h) e^{-k_h z_2} V^{jkl} \left(-\vec{k}_h, \vec{k}_s, \vec{k}_h\right) \varepsilon_{h,k} \varepsilon_{s,l}.$$
(D.4)

Performing the integral over z_2 then gives

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_{s}\to0} \mathcal{F}_{n+1}^{YM} = \frac{\pi}{k_{h}} V^{jkl} \left(-\vec{k}_{h}, \vec{k}_{s}, \vec{k}_{h} \right) \varepsilon_{h,k} \varepsilon_{s,l} \\ \times \int_{0}^{\infty} dz_{1} \mathcal{F}_{n}^{YM,i}(z_{1}) \left[\frac{z_{1}}{2k_{h}} e^{-k_{h}z_{1}} \left(\delta_{ij} - \frac{k_{h,i}k_{h,j}}{k_{h}^{2}} \left(1 + \frac{2}{k_{h}z_{1}} \right) \right) + \frac{1}{k_{h}^{2}} \frac{k_{h,i}k_{h,j}}{k_{h}^{2}} \right].$$
(D.5)

Using the vertex factor given in (D.3) we obtain the following for the soft limit of the (n + 1)-point function:

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_s \to 0} \mathcal{F}_{n+1}^{YM} = \frac{1}{2k_h} \bigg\{ \varepsilon_s \cdot k_h \frac{\partial}{\partial k_h} \int_0^\infty dz \varepsilon_{h,i} \mathcal{F}_n^{YM,i}(z) e^{-k_h z} \\ + \varepsilon_s \cdot \varepsilon_h \frac{k_{h,i}}{k_h} \int_0^\infty dz \mathcal{F}_n^{YM,i}(z) \left(1 - e^{-k_h z}\right) \bigg\},$$
(D.6)

where the energy derivative acts on the bulk-to-boundary propagator of the hard leg. Relabeling the soft leg as n + 1 and summing over all class I diagrams then gives the soft

$$G_{ij}(z_1, z_2, \vec{y}) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d\omega}{\omega^2 + y^2} \sin(\omega z_1) \sin(\omega z_2) \left(\delta_{ij} + \frac{y_i y_j}{\omega^2}\right)$$
(D.2)

$$V_{jkl}\left(\vec{k}_{1}, \vec{k}_{2}, \vec{k}_{3}\right) = \delta_{jk}\left(\vec{k}_{1} - \vec{k}_{2}\right)_{l} + \text{cyclic.}$$
(D.3)

⁸These are stated in [84]:

limit of color-ordered YM correlator:

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_s \to 0} \langle \langle J \cdots J \rangle \rangle_{n+1} = \left\{ \frac{\varepsilon_{n+1} \cdot \vec{k}_n}{2k_n} \partial_{k_n} \langle \langle J \cdots J \rangle \rangle_n - \frac{\varepsilon_{n+1} \cdot \varepsilon_n}{2k_n^2} k_n \cdot \partial_{\varepsilon_n} \left(\langle \langle J \cdots J \rangle \rangle_n - \langle \langle J \cdots J \rangle \rangle_n |_{k_n=0} \right) \right\} - \left(\vec{k}_n \to \vec{k}_1, \vec{\varepsilon}_n \to \vec{\varepsilon}_1 \right) + \dots$$
(D.7)

where $\langle \langle J \cdots J \rangle \rangle_n |_{k_a=0}$ means that we set $k_a = 0$ but not \vec{k}_a , and ... denotes the contribution of non-class I diagrams. This generalizes the result found in (3.14) to any multiplicity. However, as argued around (3.14) for n = 3, the last term in the equation above is a boundary contact term in position space and can therefore be neglected. This term is also absent in the bootstrap result for any multiplicity in (4.24). Note that the energy derivative in the first term in the expression above gives a double pole in the total energy $\frac{1}{k_{1\dots n}^2}$. This pole appears because the vertex to which the soft leg is attached is a cubic external vertex. Thus, in the soft limit we obtain a bulk-boundary propagator. This simplification is a consequence of the orthogonality of the propagators:

$$\int_0^\infty dz \text{ bulk-bulk}(z',z) \text{bulk-boundary}(z) \sim z' \text{bulk-boundary}(z')$$

The extra power of z on the right-hand-side then leads to a higher-order energy pole in the energy.

For a diagram in class II, one can explicitly compute the soft limit in the same manner and obtain the following:



where \vec{y} refers to the sum of boundary momenta flowing through a propagator and y denotes its magnitude. In the bottom two diagrams we have displayed the free Lorentz indices on

the blobs which contract with the soft polarisation and exchanged momentum. Note that these diagrams do not exhibit energy derivatives and therefore do not give rise to double poles in the total energy as we found for class I diagrams. Moreover, class II diagrams exhibit poles in the y variables, which correspond to multiparticle energy poles, and we find similar results for higher class diagrams. This is in contrast to class I diagrams which give rise to poles in the energy of individual hard legs. Hence the polarisation derivative arising from the soft limit of class I diagrams can be distinguished from the contributions of non-class I diagrams even though it does not contain a double pole in the total energy.

E Soft limit of five-point YM

In this appendix we will verify the YM soft limit formula in (4.24) at five points. Specializing this formula to n = 4 gives

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_5 \to 0} \langle \langle J \dots J \rangle \rangle_5 = \left\{ \frac{\varepsilon_5 \cdot k_4}{2k_4} \partial_{k_4} \langle \langle J \dots J \rangle \rangle_4 - \frac{\varepsilon_5 \cdot \varepsilon_4}{2k_4^2} k_4 \cdot \partial_{\varepsilon_4} \langle \langle J \dots J \rangle \rangle_4 \right\}$$

$$- (k_4 \to k_1, \varepsilon_4 \to \varepsilon_1) + \text{free of poles in } k_{1234}^2, k_1, k_4.$$
(E.1)

As a simple check, let us restrict our attention to terms which contain $\varepsilon_4 \cdot \varepsilon_5 \varepsilon_1 \cdot \varepsilon_3 \varepsilon_2 \cdot k_4$. The left-hand-side of (E.1) then gives

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_{5}\to0} \langle \langle JJJJJ\rangle \rangle |_{\varepsilon_{4}\cdot\varepsilon_{5}\varepsilon_{1}\cdot\varepsilon_{3}\varepsilon_{2}\cdot k_{4}} = \frac{k_{1}}{2k_{4}k_{1234}\left(k_{14} + \left|\vec{k}_{2}+\vec{k}_{3}\right|\right)\left(k_{23} + \left|\vec{k}_{2}+\vec{k}_{3}\right|\right)} + O(k_{4}^{0}).$$
(E.2)

The first term on the right-hand-side of (E.1) does not contribute while the second term gives

$$-\frac{\varepsilon_{5} \cdot \varepsilon_{4}}{2k_{4}^{2}} k_{4} \cdot \partial_{\varepsilon_{4}} \langle \langle JJJJ \rangle \rangle |_{\varepsilon_{4} \cdot \varepsilon_{5}\varepsilon_{1} \cdot \varepsilon_{3}\varepsilon_{2} \cdot k_{4}} = -\frac{1}{4k_{4}^{2} \left(k_{2} + k_{3} + \left|\vec{k}_{2} + \vec{k}_{3}\right|\right)} + \frac{k_{1}}{2k_{4}k_{1234} \left(k_{14} + \left|\vec{k}_{2} + \vec{k}_{3}\right|\right) \left(k_{23} + \left|\vec{k}_{2} + \vec{k}_{3}\right|\right)} + O(k_{4}^{0}).$$
(E.3)

Taking the difference of (E.2) and (E.3) then gives a term which is analytic in the momenta of at least two legs and is therefore a boundary contact term. In a similar manner, we may check (E.1) more generally with the help of MultivariateApart [85]. In particular, we have checked that the poles in k_{1234}^2 , k_1 , and k_4 on both sides of (E.1) agree up to boundary contact terms.

We can also check the soft limit formula in Mellin-momentum space, which is convenient because this representation is free of boundary contact terms [41]. We will just sketch how this works at five points and leave the details to 5ptYM.nb in the Supplementary material. At five points, the soft limit in Mellin-momentum space is given by

$$\lim_{\vec{k}_5 \to 0} \mathcal{A}_5^{\text{YM}} = -\frac{z\varepsilon_5 \cdot k_4 \mathcal{A}_4^{\text{YM}}}{\mathcal{D}_{k_{45}}^{d-1}} + \frac{z\varepsilon_5 \cdot k_1 \mathcal{A}_4^{\text{YM}}}{\mathcal{D}_{k_{15}}^{d-1}} - \varepsilon_5 \cdot \varepsilon_4 \frac{k_4 \cdot \partial_{\varepsilon_4} \mathcal{A}_4^{\text{YM}}}{2zk_4^2} + \varepsilon_5 \cdot \varepsilon_1 \frac{k_1 \cdot \partial_{\varepsilon_1} \mathcal{A}_4^{\text{YM}}}{2zk_1^2} + \text{free of poles in } k_4, k_1, \mathcal{D}_{k_{45}}^{d-1}, \mathcal{D}_{k_{15}}^{d-1}.$$
(E.4)

Starting with an explicit formula for the five-point Mellin momentum amplitude derived in [42], we compute the residues of the factorisation poles and the poles in the hard momenta and find that

$$\operatorname{Res}_{\mathcal{B}_{k_4}^{d-1} \to 0} \lim_{\vec{k}_5 \to 0} \mathcal{A}_5^{\mathrm{YM}} = -\frac{z\varepsilon_5 \cdot k_4 \mathcal{A}_4^{\mathrm{YM}}}{\mathcal{D}_{k_4}^{d-1}},\tag{E.5}$$

$$\underset{\mathcal{D}_{k_{1}}^{d-1} \to 0}{\operatorname{Res}} \lim_{\vec{k}_{5} \to 0} \mathcal{A}_{5}^{\operatorname{YM}} = \frac{z\varepsilon_{5} \cdot k_{1}\mathcal{A}_{4}^{\operatorname{YM}}}{\mathcal{D}_{k_{1}}^{d-1}}, \tag{E.6}$$

$$\operatorname{Res}_{k_4^2 \to 0} \lim_{\vec{k}_5 \to 0} \mathcal{A}_5^{\mathrm{YM}} = -\varepsilon_5 \cdot \varepsilon_4 \frac{k_4 \cdot \partial_{\varepsilon_4} \mathcal{A}_4^{\mathrm{YM}}}{2zk_4^2}, \tag{E.7}$$

$$\operatorname{Res}_{k_1^2 \to 0} \lim_{\vec{k}_5 \to 0} \mathcal{A}_5^{\mathrm{YM}} = \varepsilon_5 \cdot \varepsilon_1 \frac{k_1 \cdot \partial_{\varepsilon_1} \mathcal{A}_4^{\mathrm{YM}}}{2zk_1^2}, \tag{E.8}$$

....

in agreement with (E.4). When checking these relations, it is important to keep track of an extra factor of z which arises from the soft bulk-to-boundary scalar propagator (see the discussion in section C.3 for more details).

When checking the polarisation derivative terms we found that in (E.1) they come with a $1/k_h$, while the coefficients of $1/k_h^2$ are boundary contact terms, and in (E.4) they come with a $1/k_h^2$. The difference arises because when going back to momentum space the Mellin variable s_h will produce k_h in the numerator. One may use the Mellin delta function to write s_h in terms of other Mellin variables leaving a $1/k_h^2$ pole but the two expressions will only differ by boundary contact terms [39].

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- [1] S. Weinberg, Infrared photons and gravitons, Phys. Rev. 140 (1965) B516 [INSPIRE].
- [2] F.E. Low, Bremsstrahlung of very low-energy quanta in elementary particle collisions, Phys. Rev. 110 (1958) 974 [INSPIRE].
- [3] T.H. Burnett and N.M. Kroll, Extension of the low soft photon theorem, Phys. Rev. Lett. 20 (1968) 86 [INSPIRE].
- [4] C.D. White, Factorization Properties of Soft Graviton Amplitudes, JHEP 05 (2011) 060 [arXiv:1103.2981] [INSPIRE].
- [5] F. Cachazo and A. Strominger, Evidence for a New Soft Graviton Theorem, arXiv:1404.4091 [INSPIRE].
- [6] E. Casali, Soft sub-leading divergences in Yang-Mills amplitudes, JHEP 08 (2014) 077 [arXiv:1404.5551] [INSPIRE].
- [7] L. Hui, A. Joyce and S.S.C. Wong, Inflationary soft theorems revisited: A generalized consistency relation, JCAP 02 (2019) 060 [arXiv:1811.05951] [INSPIRE].
- [8] S.L. Adler, Consistency conditions on the strong interactions implied by a partially conserved axial vector current, Phys. Rev. 137 (1965) B1022 [INSPIRE].

- [9] N. Arkani-Hamed, F. Cachazo and J. Kaplan, What is the Simplest Quantum Field Theory?, JHEP 09 (2010) 016 [arXiv:0808.1446] [INSPIRE].
- [10] C. Cheung et al., A Periodic Table of Effective Field Theories, JHEP 02 (2017) 020 [arXiv:1611.03137] [INSPIRE].
- [11] C. Cheung, K. Kampf, J. Novotny and J. Trnka, Effective Field Theories from Soft Limits of Scattering Amplitudes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 114 (2015) 221602 [arXiv:1412.4095] [INSPIRE].
- K. Hinterbichler and A. Joyce, Hidden symmetry of the Galileon, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 023503
 [arXiv:1501.07600] [INSPIRE].
- [13] A. Strominger, On BMS Invariance of Gravitational Scattering, JHEP 07 (2014) 152 [arXiv:1312.2229] [INSPIRE].
- [14] T. He, V. Lysov, P. Mitra and A. Strominger, BMS supertranslations and Weinberg's soft graviton theorem, JHEP 05 (2015) 151 [arXiv:1401.7026] [INSPIRE].
- [15] A. Strominger, Lectures on the Infrared Structure of Gravity and Gauge Theory, arXiv:1703.05448 [INSPIRE].
- [16] H. Bondi, M.G.J. van der Burg and A.W.K. Metzner, Gravitational waves in general relativity. 7. Waves from axisymmetric isolated systems, Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A 269 (1962) 21 [INSPIRE].
- [17] R.K. Sachs, Gravitational waves in general relativity. 8. Waves in asymptotically flat space-times, Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A 270 (1962) 103 [INSPIRE].
- [18] J.M. Maldacena, Non-Gaussian features of primordial fluctuations in single field inflationary models, JHEP 05 (2003) 013 [astro-ph/0210603] [INSPIRE].
- [19] P. Creminelli and M. Zaldarriaga, Single field consistency relation for the 3-point function, JCAP 10 (2004) 006 [astro-ph/0407059] [INSPIRE].
- [20] C. Cheung, A.L. Fitzpatrick, J. Kaplan and L. Senatore, On the consistency relation of the 3-point function in single field inflation, JCAP 02 (2008) 021 [arXiv:0709.0295] [INSPIRE].
- [21] P. Creminelli, J. Noreña and M. Simonović, Conformal consistency relations for single-field inflation, JCAP 07 (2012) 052 [arXiv:1203.4595] [INSPIRE].
- [22] K. Hinterbichler, L. Hui and J. Khoury, Conformal Symmetries of Adiabatic Modes in Cosmology, JCAP 08 (2012) 017 [arXiv:1203.6351] [INSPIRE].
- [23] A. Bzowski, P. McFadden and K. Skenderis, Holography for inflation using conformal perturbation theory, JHEP 04 (2013) 047 [arXiv:1211.4550] [INSPIRE].
- [24] K. Hinterbichler, L. Hui and J. Khoury, An Infinite Set of Ward Identities for Adiabatic Modes in Cosmology, JCAP 01 (2014) 039 [arXiv:1304.5527] [INSPIRE].
- [25] G.L. Pimentel, Inflationary Consistency Conditions from a Wavefunctional Perspective, JHEP 02 (2014) 124 [arXiv:1309.1793] [INSPIRE].
- [26] P. McFadden, Soft limits in holographic cosmology, JHEP 02 (2015) 053 [arXiv:1412.1874]
 [INSPIRE].
- [27] N. Kundu, A. Shukla and S.P. Trivedi, Constraints from Conformal Symmetry on the Three Point Scalar Correlator in Inflation, JHEP 04 (2015) 061 [arXiv:1410.2606] [INSPIRE].
- [28] P. Creminelli, On non-Gaussianities in single-field inflation, JCAP 10 (2003) 003
 [astro-ph/0306122] [INSPIRE].
- [29] V. Assassi, D. Baumann and D. Green, On Soft Limits of Inflationary Correlation Functions, JCAP 11 (2012) 047 [arXiv:1204.4207] [INSPIRE].

- [30] N. Kundu, A. Shukla and S.P. Trivedi, Ward Identities for Scale and Special Conformal Transformations in Inflation, JHEP **01** (2016) 046 [arXiv:1507.06017] [INSPIRE].
- [31] J. Bonifacio, K. Hinterbichler, A. Joyce and D. Roest, Exceptional scalar theories in de Sitter space, JHEP 04 (2022) 128 [arXiv:2112.12151] [INSPIRE].
- [32] C. Armstrong, A. Lipstein and J. Mei, Enhanced soft limits in de Sitter space, JHEP 12 (2022) 064 [arXiv:2210.02285] [INSPIRE].
- [33] N. Banerjee, K. Fernandes and A. Mitra, Soft photon theorem in the small negative cosmological constant limit, JHEP 08 (2021) 105 [arXiv:2102.06165] [INSPIRE].
- [34] S. Atul Bhatkar, Effect of a small cosmological constant on the electromagnetic memory effect, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) 124028 [arXiv:2108.00835] [INSPIRE].
- [35] N. Banerjee, K. Fernandes and A. Mitra, 1/L² corrected soft photon theorem from a CFT₃ Ward identity, JHEP 04 (2023) 055 [arXiv:2209.06802] [INSPIRE].
- [36] K. Fernandes, N. Banerjee and A. Mitra, Soft factors with AdS radius corrections, JHAP 3 (2023) 5 [arXiv:2310.19299] [INSPIRE].
- [37] J. Bonifacio et al., The graviton four-point function in de Sitter space, JHEP 06 (2023) 212
 [arXiv:2212.07370] [INSPIRE].
- [38] C. Armstrong, H. Goodhew, A. Lipstein and J. Mei, Graviton trispectrum from gluons, JHEP 08 (2023) 206 [arXiv:2304.07206] [INSPIRE].
- [39] C. Sleight and M. Taronna, Bootstrapping Inflationary Correlators in Mellin Space, JHEP 02 (2020) 098 [arXiv:1907.01143] [INSPIRE].
- [40] C. Sleight, A Mellin Space Approach to Cosmological Correlators, JHEP 01 (2020) 090 [arXiv:1906.12302] [INSPIRE].
- [41] J. Mei, Amplitude Bootstrap in (Anti) de Sitter Space And The Four-Point Graviton from Double Copy, arXiv:2305.13894 [INSPIRE].
- [42] J. Mei and Y. Mo, On-shell Bootstrap for n-gluons and gravitons scattering in (A)dS, Unitarity and Soft limit, arXiv:2402.09111 [INSPIRE].
- [43] K. Roehrig and D. Skinner, Ambitwistor strings and the scattering equations on $AdS_3 \times S^3$, JHEP 02 (2022) 073 [arXiv:2007.07234] [INSPIRE].
- [44] L. Eberhardt, S. Komatsu and S. Mizera, Scattering equations in AdS: scalar correlators in arbitrary dimensions, JHEP 11 (2020) 158 [arXiv:2007.06574] [INSPIRE].
- [45] H. Gomez, R.L. Jusinskas and A. Lipstein, Cosmological Scattering Equations, Phys. Rev. Lett. 127 (2021) 251604 [arXiv:2106.11903] [INSPIRE].
- [46] A. Herderschee, R. Roiban and F. Teng, On the differential representation and color-kinematics duality of AdS boundary correlators, JHEP 05 (2022) 026 [arXiv:2201.05067] [INSPIRE].
- [47] G. Compère, A. Fiorucci and R. Ruzziconi, The Λ-BMS₄ group of dS₄ and new boundary conditions for AdS₄, Class. Quant. Grav. 36 (2019) 195017 [Erratum ibid. 38 (2021) 229501]
 [arXiv:1905.00971] [INSPIRE].
- [48] P. McFadden and K. Skenderis, Holography for Cosmology, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 021301 [arXiv:0907.5542] [INSPIRE].
- [49] S. Weinberg, Quantum contributions to cosmological correlations, Phys. Rev. D 72 (2005) 043514 [hep-th/0506236] [INSPIRE].

- [50] A. Bzowski, P. McFadden and K. Skenderis, *Implications of conformal invariance in momentum space*, *JHEP* 03 (2014) 111 [arXiv:1304.7760] [INSPIRE].
- [51] H. Liu and A.A. Tseytlin, On four point functions in the CFT / AdS correspondence, Phys. Rev. D 59 (1999) 086002 [hep-th/9807097] [INSPIRE].
- [52] S. Raju, Recursion Relations for AdS/CFT Correlators, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 126002 [arXiv:1102.4724] [INSPIRE].
- [53] S. Raju, New Recursion Relations and a Flat Space Limit for AdS/CFT Correlators, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 126009 [arXiv:1201.6449] [INSPIRE].
- [54] C. Armstrong et al., New recursion relations for tree-level correlators in anti-de Sitter spacetime, Phys. Rev. D 106 (2022) L121701 [arXiv:2209.02709] [INSPIRE].
- [55] J.M. Maldacena and G.L. Pimentel, On graviton non-Gaussianities during inflation, JHEP 09 (2011) 045 [arXiv:1104.2846] [INSPIRE].
- [56] J.A. Farrow, A.E. Lipstein and P. McFadden, Double copy structure of CFT correlators, JHEP 02 (2019) 130 [arXiv:1812.11129] [INSPIRE].
- [57] C. Sleight and M. Taronna, On the consistency of (partially-)massless matter couplings in de Sitter space, JHEP 10 (2021) 156 [arXiv:2106.00366] [INSPIRE].
- [58] H. Goodhew, S. Jazayeri and E. Pajer, The Cosmological Optical Theorem, JCAP 04 (2021) 021 [arXiv:2009.02898] [INSPIRE].
- [59] H. Goodhew, S. Jazayeri, M.H.G. Lee and E. Pajer, Cutting cosmological correlators, JCAP 08 (2021) 003 [arXiv:2104.06587] [INSPIRE].
- [60] D. Meltzer and A. Sivaramakrishnan, CFT unitarity and the AdS Cutkosky rules, JHEP 11 (2020) 073 [arXiv:2008.11730] [INSPIRE].
- [61] D. Seery, M.S. Sloth and F. Vernizzi, Inflationary trispectrum from graviton exchange, JCAP 03 (2009) 018 [arXiv:0811.3934] [INSPIRE].
- [62] L. Leblond and E. Pajer, Resonant Trispectrum and a Dozen More Primordial N-point functions, JCAP 01 (2011) 035 [arXiv:1010.4565] [INSPIRE].
- [63] A. Kehagias and A. Riotto, Operator Product Expansion of Inflationary Correlators and Conformal Symmetry of de Sitter, Nucl. Phys. B 864 (2012) 492 [arXiv:1205.1523] [INSPIRE].
- [64] A. Kehagias and A. Riotto, The Four-point Correlator in Multifield Inflation, the Operator Product Expansion and the Symmetries of de Sitter, Nucl. Phys. B 868 (2013) 577
 [arXiv:1210.1918] [INSPIRE].
- [65] N. Arkani-Hamed and J. Maldacena, Cosmological Collider Physics, arXiv:1503.08043 [INSPIRE].
- [66] A. Bzowski, P. McFadden and K. Skenderis, A handbook of holographic 4-point functions, JHEP 12 (2022) 039 [arXiv:2207.02872] [INSPIRE].
- [67] C. Armstrong et al., Effective field theories and cosmological scattering equations, JHEP 08 (2022) 054 [arXiv:2204.08931] [INSPIRE].
- [68] D. Baumann et al., The Cosmological Bootstrap: Spinning Correlators from Symmetries and Factorization, SciPost Phys. 11 (2021) 071 [arXiv:2005.04234] [INSPIRE].
- [69] C. Armstrong, A.E. Lipstein and J. Mei, Color/kinematics duality in AdS₄, JHEP 02 (2021) 194 [arXiv:2012.02059] [INSPIRE].

- [70] E. Hijano and D. Neuenfeld, Soft photon theorems from CFT Ward identities in the flat limit of AdS/CFT, JHEP 11 (2020) 009 [arXiv:2005.03667] [INSPIRE].
- [71] L.P. de Gioia and A.-M. Raclariu, Celestial sector in CFT: Conformally soft symmetries, SciPost Phys. 17 (2024) 002 [arXiv:2303.10037] [INSPIRE].
- S. Chakrabarti et al., Subleading Soft Theorem for Multiple Soft Gravitons, JHEP 12 (2017) 150 [arXiv:1707.06803] [INSPIRE].
- [73] C. Chowdhury, P. Chowdhury, R.N. Moga and K. Singh, Loops, Recursions, and Soft Limits for Fermionic Correlators in (A)dS, arXiv:2408.00074 [INSPIRE].
- [74] M.B. Green and C. Wen, Maximal $U(1)_Y$ -violating n-point correlators in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super-Yang-Mills theory, JHEP **02** (2021) 042 [arXiv:2009.01211] [INSPIRE].
- [75] Q. Cao, S. He, X. Li and Y. Tang, Supergluon scattering in AdS: constructibility, spinning amplitudes, and new structures, arXiv:2406.08538 [INSPIRE].
- [76] C. Boucher-Veronneau and A.J. Larkoski, Constructing Amplitudes from Their Soft Limits, JHEP 09 (2011) 130 [arXiv:1108.5385] [INSPIRE].
- [77] R. Britto, F. Cachazo, B. Feng and E. Witten, Direct proof of tree-level recursion relation in Yang-Mills theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 94 (2005) 181602 [hep-th/0501052] [INSPIRE].
- [78] N. Arkani-Hamed et al., Grassmannian Geometry of Scattering Amplitudes, Cambridge University Press (2016) [D0I:10.1017/CB09781316091548] [INSPIRE].
- [79] S.J. Parke and T.R. Taylor, An Amplitude for n Gluon Scattering, Phys. Rev. Lett. 56 (1986) 2459 [INSPIRE].
- [80] T. Adamo and L. Mason, Einstein supergravity amplitudes from twistor-string theory, Class. Quant. Grav. 29 (2012) 145010 [arXiv:1203.1026] [INSPIRE].
- [81] T. Adamo, Gravity with a cosmological constant from rational curves, JHEP 11 (2015) 098 [arXiv:1508.02554] [INSPIRE].
- [82] T. Adamo and S. Klisch, The KLT kernel in twistor space, arXiv: 2406.04539 [INSPIRE].
- [83] A. Sen, Soft Theorems in Superstring Theory, JHEP 06 (2017) 113 [arXiv:1702.03934] [INSPIRE].
- [84] S. Albayrak, C. Chowdhury and S. Kharel, New relation for Witten diagrams, JHEP 10 (2019) 274 [arXiv:1904.10043] [INSPIRE].
- [85] M. Heller and A. von Manteuffel, MultivariateApart: Generalized partial fractions, Comput. Phys. Commun. 271 (2022) 108174 [arXiv:2101.08283] [INSPIRE].